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China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited
is an investment company listed on the Main Board.
We focus on investment in equity and debt securities
of listed and unlisted companies which are mainly
established in the Greater China.

Our primary objective is to achieve medium- to
long-term capital appreciation and generate income
from interest and dividends.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report of China Internet
Investment Finance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2015. The Company is an investment company
pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

NEW INVESTMENT FOCUS, CHANGE OF COMPANY
NAME AND LOGO

After detailed deliberation, we have taken a major step
by putting more efforts in the internet investment and
finance sector as our new focus while still maintaining
our business goal to provide stable returns with long-term
capital appreciation to our shareholders. As mentioned in
the circular of the Company dated 30 September 2015,
we would identify and consider potential investment
opportunities in internet finance and internet investment
sector. In the internet finance sector (including online
peer-to-peer lending, crowd funding, internet banking and
insurance), there exist diverse investment opportunities
of good potentials. In particular, the internet plus strategy
has also been emphasized in China as a key initiative
for promoting the economic growth. With focus on this
promising industry sector, we are confident to enhance long
term returns at a level of risk suitable to the Company and
its shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE

With the support of our shareholders, our Company name
was changed from “Opes Asia Development Limited” to
“China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited”
with effect from 23 October 2015. We also adopted a new
logo which is used to be printed on the relevant corporate
documents of the Company, such as the Company’s
promotional materials, interim and annual reports,
announcements, circulars and corporate stationary. In order
to highlight our new focus, we consider that our change
of name and logo would provide us with a fresh corporate
identity and image which will benefit our future business
development which is in line with our existing investment
objectives.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

The net asset value of the Group is considered as the
significant financial indicator which can measure the
development and performance of the Company’s business.
During the year, the net asset value of the Group changed
from approximately HK$252.8 million to approximately
HK$232.3 million. The drop of about 8.1% was mainly
attributable to fluctuation in unrealised fair value gain or
loss. In comparison, the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) and the
Hang Seng China Enterprises Index dropped by about
7.2% and about 19.4% respectively but the GEM Board
Index remained steadily. The net asset value per share was
HK$0.735, which was calculated on the above net assets
value and approximately 315,990,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each in issue as at 31 December 2015.
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INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO REVIEW

Listed equity and listed debt securities

During the year, the Group’s listed portfolio increased
from approximately HK$111.5 million to approximately
HK$174.8 million, representing an increase of about 56.8%,
and it primarily comprised investment in listed equity/debt
securities.

Investments which were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss amounted to approximately
HK$154.3 million (2014: approximately HK$97.4 million).

Investments which were not held for trading were classified
as available-for-sale financial assets. As at 31 December
2015, the available-for-sale financial assets comprised listed
debt securities and amounted to about HK$20.5 million
(2014: about HK$14.1 million).

Unlisted investment

During the year, the Group acquired a total of 30% equity
shares in a HK company, Superb Kingdom Limited, which
is primarily engaged in trading of LED lighting products.
The investment has been classified as an associate and
was stated at the amount of about HK$9.8 million as at the
balance sheet date.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded
a turnover of about HK$92.5 million (2014: about HK$50.2
million), representing an increase of about 84.3% as
compared to last year. The turnover of the Group mainly
represents the sales of listed equity securities and the
increase was mainly attributable to the significant market
activity.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE

Gross loss

The stock markets in Hong Kong and the PRC exhibited high
volatility during the year and recorded substantial decline
since July 2015. As a result, we suffered from a gross
loss of approximately HK$21.1 million (2014: gross loss of
approximately HK$61.1 million). There were several reasons
for the decrease in the gross loss. Firstly, the net loss on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss dropped
to about HK$22.2 million (2014: about HK$35.0 million).
This was generally attributable to the fluctuations in the
unrealised fair value gain or loss.

Secondly, there were impairment loss on the convertible
bond receivables of about HK$19.1 million and loss on
disposal of certain unlisted equity investment of HK$7.2
million in prior year, which did not recur this year. Details of
the impairment loss on convertible bond receivables were
set out in the 2014 annual report of the Company and full
provision was made for the then outstanding balance in
2014. During the year, our lawyers continued the recovery
action but we only received about HK$0.4 million. Our
lawyers have also issued statutory demands to relevant
parties and will take further legal actions. We will closely
monitor the situation.

However, during the year, there was a loss on disposal
of available-for-sale financial assets which represented
our investment in RMB bonds. On 11 August 2015, China
changed the way for the daily-fixing-rate determination of the
currency of renminbi (RMB) against the United State dollar
(USD), leading to the sudden devaluation of the currency.
In the last quarter of 2015, the currency of RMB illustrated
significant devaluation and fluctuation as compared to the
past. After thoughtful evaluation, we decided to dispose all
of the RMB bonds at a total loss of about HK$1.9 million.
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Other income, administrative expenses and other operating
expenses

Other income mainly represented non-recurring receipts
during the financial year and it dropped to about HK$0.8
million. As mentioned in the 2014 annual report, the other
income in prior year mainly included the recovery of an
impairment loss provision of guaranteed annual return
of HK$2.64 million from Harvest Smart Becky Agric-Bio
Technology Limited and the release of available-for-sale fair
value reserve upon a disposal a subsidiary which held the
9.9% equity interest in The Pride Fund Management Limited
of about HK$1.31 million.

The administrative expenses slightly increased to about
HK$26.3 million (2014: about HK$25.1 million). The expenses
mainly comprised the employment benefit expenses of about
HK$15.0 million.

The other operating expenses decreased to about HK$1.4
million (2014: about HK$2.7 million). Thanks to the effort
in negotiating with the investment managers on their
fees, investment management expenses were reduced by
approximately HK$1 million. During the year, we also entered
into a new investment management service contract with
Success Talent Investments Limited for a two-year period.
The maximum annual aggregate management fee has been
agreed to be HK$630,000 and this can enhance cost and
operational efficiency.

During the year, we incurred finance costs of about HK$0.19
million for certain mortgage loan and finance lease. These
were used to finance acquisition of certain fixed assets.

Share of results of an associate

Regarding the share of results of an associate, this referred
to our investment in Superb Kingdom Limited (Superb
Kingdom). Superb Kingdom has been primarily engaged in
the sale of LED lighting products in Asia under a German
brand of Segula. The end-customers mainly included
casinos in Macau.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE

LED lighting is also called solid-state lighting, and represents
the latest wave of lighting revolution after incandescent
lamps and fluorescent lamps. Characterised by its energy-
saving, eco-friendly, long-life and wide-application features,
LED lighting is an important green sector and is expected to
replace the traditional incandescent lighting due to superior
price-to-performance characteristics particularly in today’s
high cost energy, environmentally sensitive market place.
LED lighting is mainly used to provide main illumination of an
area, including directional lighting, supplementary lighting
and architectural lighting. Currently, the demand of LED
architainment lighting (a blend of architectural and event
lighting) is mounting in the general lighting segment.

Regarding the LED lighting for Macau casinos, the Macau
Government is actively promoting on implementation
of sustainability strategies and targets for its casino/
entertainment complexes. Because casinos open 24 hours
a day and 365 days a year and their atria are continually lit,
their energy usage on illumination is generally high. Casino
lighting system typically consumes about 30% of the total
electricity bill of the casinos. With the use of LED lighting, it
can reduce direct energy consumption and also reduce the
temperature of gambling floors and hence lower the energy
consumption for internal cooling. New casino developments
in Macau will be all fitted with LED lighting and for those
completed developments still illuminated by incandescent
lamps and fluorescent lamps, majority of them have been
planned for LED lighting retrofit.

Currently, Superb Kingdom focuses on the businesses
at casinos and five-star hotels in Macau and other Asian
countries. Although the gaming market in Macau is still
facing many challenges, Superb Kingdom still received
stable orders for its LED lighting products. Moreover, Superb
Kingdom has maintained a strong relationship with Segula
GmbH, the owner of the brand, and they are now working
together for an expansion plan.
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE

PROSPECTS

Internet Plus and Internet Finance

Regarding our new investment focus in Internet finance
and Internet Plus sector, we have already invested in
stocks and bonds of certain major internet companies and
internet finance companies in our portfolio. These include
investments in stocks and bonds in Tencent Holding Limited
and bonds in Ping An Insurance Group Company of China
Limited (“Ping An Insurance’). As at 31 December 2015,
our investments therein accounted for about 6.1% of the
carrying value of the Group’s listed investment portfolio and
that percentage was further increased to about 16.9% by the
end of February 2016.

As mentioned in our interim report, in March 2015, Premier
Li Kegiang spoke of the “Internet Plus” concept in his 2015
Government Work Report. According to Premier Li's report,
“Internet Plus” entails integration of mobile Internet, cloud
computing, big data and Internet of Things with modern
manufacturing, fostering new industries and business
development, including e-commerce, industrial Internet
and Internet finance. “Internet + Finance” can be seen as
financial industries apply internet technology to their service
provision and product sale. For instance, clients can pay
bills or transfer money from one account to another through
internet.

Mobile Internet finance can provide utmost opportunities
and the business of peer to peer (P2P) finance sector has
already exhibited significant growth in China. According to
a report in South China Morning Post dated 29 December
2015, the China Banking Regulatory Commission (CSRC)
issued draft rules in late December 2015 and defined such
businesses as internet financing intermediaries that operate
between borrowers and lenders, but they cannot raise or
lend funds on their own. The CSRC's draft regulation forbids
P2P online lending firms from selling wealth management
products, insurances and trust products, and guaranteeing
yields as well as from pooling their investors’ money. After
the publication of the above draft rules, it becomes difficult
to obtain business licenses with focus on finance in major
cities of the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE

Internet financing has seen explosive growth over the past
two years, with numerous listed companies, private business
and state-owned financial institutions actively developing
their own P2P platforms. This sector has provided great
business opportunities, albeit the regulatory framework is
getting more stringent.

We will identify suitable unlisted companies in the above
Internet finance area for investment and invest in these
companies upon satisfaction of the relevant due diligence
review. The investments in the Internet plus sector can
generally provide good returns and we are studying an
opportunity in a mobile P2P finance platform, which is based
in Shenzhen.

Market Outlook

Stock Market

Undoubtedly, most of the investors in Hong Kong stock
market in the year of 2015 suffered from the adverse change
in sentiment from bullish to bearish. In general, there were
three major concerns: falling oil and commodity prices,
China’s economic slowdown and renminbi movement, and
the uncertainties about US interest rate hikes.
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According to the “Research report No. 58: A Review of the
Global and Local Securities Markets in 2015” issued by the
Securities Futures Commission on 22 January 2016, the
Hong Kong stock market under performed major overseas
markets in 2015. In early 2015, the market rose in tandem
with the Mainland’s market rally. In particular, there were
optimism about increasing capital inflows via Shanghai-
Hong Kong Stock Connect and hopes for further supportive
measures on the Mainland. In April, the HSI jumped to a
seven-year high of over 28,000 points. Market turnover also
rose to a fresh high of HK$291.5 billion on 9 April. In mid-
2015, the market became volatile amid heavy sell-offs in
the Mainland market. The HSI recorded its largest intra-day
decline on 8 July. It once dropped 2,138 points and closed
1,458 points (5.8%) lower. The Hong Kong stock market
extended losses and volatility heightened on concerns of a
slowdown of the Mainland economy and the devaluation of
the renminbi. Uncertainties over the timing of US rate also
hikes led to the drop in index. The Hong Kong market once
rebounded on hopes of further stimulus measures on the
Mainland and speculation on the US Fed’s decision to raise
rates at a gradual pace. In late 2015, the market declined
on lingering uncertainties over the outlook for the Mainland
economy and the volatility of the renminbi.

In January 2016, China attempted to use the new circuit
breaker mechanism. On 4 January 2016 stock markets in
China fell to the point of triggering its circuit breaker, a
market mechanism that halted trading when losses reached
a threshold which was intended to help stabilize stocks.
On both 4 January and 7 January 2016 the Chinese stock
market experienced a sharp fall. On January 7, Chinese
authorities suspended the circuit breaker out of concern that
the trade curb might have intensified investors’ concerns. In
general, the market sentiment has still been weak.
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE

Bond Market

In March 2016, Moody’s Investors Service revised the
outlook to negative from stable on China’'s government
credit ratings, while affirming the Aa3 long term senior,
unsecured debt. The key drivers of the outlook revision
were the rising government debt and the large and rising
contingent liabilities on the government balance sheet; and
a continuing fall in reserve buffers, due to capital outflows,
leading to policy, currency and growth risks. Similarly, the
outlook revision has also made to certain PRC state-owned-
enterprises and non-insurance financial institutions. Further
cautions will be taken for the investment in bonds with
Chinese issuers and together with the Investment Manager
we will review our bond portfolio regularly.

Way Forward

In view of the significant uncertainties in the global stock
markets, the Company has taken a conservative approach in
rebalancing its investment portfolios. Because the Company
has pursued a diversified strategy with a combination of
stocks and bonds, we can enjoy the upside of the stocks
and can deal with risks, at least partially, through the
negative correlation of equities and bonds. During the
financial year, after deliberation consideration, we had
disposed of the investment in RMB bonds and switched to
investment in USD bonds. We continue to employ the buy-
and-hold strategy to enjoy the long-term capital appreciation
and trading strategy to realize the possible market
opportunities. The new investment manager, Success Talent
Investments Limited, will also regularly review our portfolios
in order to enhance our risk-adjusted return performance.

We also plan to further invest in unlisted companies because
their internal rate of return can be high. This can further
diversity our portfolio by major asset classes.

Lastly, we will continue to enhance our capital base by
fund-raising through the stock market, when appropriate.
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 1 February 2016,
a share placing of 63,192,000 ordinary shares at a price of
HK$0.30 per share was completed. This can further increase
our financial strength and we will use the proceeds for
working capital or potential investments.
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DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ("AGM”)

The AGM of the Company will be held on Monday, 30 May
2016. The notice of AGM will be published and despatched
to the shareholders of the Company together with this Annual
Report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
25 May 2016 to 30 May 2016, both days inclusive, for the
purpose of determining the entitlement of the shareholders
of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM. No transfer
of shares may be registered during the said period. In
order to qualify to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than on 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 24 May 2016.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Company, | would express my heartfelt
gratitude towards all of the directors, management and staff
members for their support and contribution to the Group. |
sincerely hope that the new investment focus in the internet
finance and investment sector can bring the performance of
the Company to a next level.

On behalf of the Board
China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited
Lam Man Chan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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BUSINESS REVIEW
1.

Review of the Company’s operations and prospects
Details are set out in the Chairman’s Statement of this
Annual Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Our financial position, results of investment operations,
and prospects may be adversely affected by certain
risks and uncertainties. We have identified the principal
risks and uncertainties below. However, other risks and
uncertainties may also emerge in the future.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk arises from fluctuation in market
prices of our investment in listed equity securities. The
management manages the exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of listed equity securities with different risk
exposure. Our Investment Manager and the Investment
Committee regularly review and monitor the investment
portfolio to ensure that prompt actions can be taken
and the loss arising from the changes in the market
values can be capped within an acceptable range.
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Management Discusslon
and Analysis

EEERWED

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or
affects ability to meet business objectives arising from
the movement in market prices, like foreign exchange
rates, interest rates and equity prices. The management
of our Group manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner. The Group may
invest in currencies and securities traded in emerging
or developing markets, some of which are highly
controlled by governmental authorities. For example,
the Group has invested in bonds denominated in RMB.
Such investments require consideration of certain risks
typically not associated with investing in currencies or
securities of developed markets. These factors may
affect the level and volatility of securities prices and
the liquidity of the Group’s investments. Unexpected
volatility or illiquidity could affect the Group’s
profitability or result in losses.

Compliance risk

This is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, financial
loss, or damage to reputation that arises when a firm
fails to comply with relevant laws and regulations. We
have appointed our joint company secretaries to closely
follow up the regulatory compliance matters.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be
unable to meet its obligations when they fall due
because of an inability to obtain adequate funding
or liquidate assets. In managing this risk, we adopt
a conservative approach by holding sufficient liquid
assets of appropriate quality to ensure that there are
sufficient cash flows to meet all financial commitments
and to capitalize on opportunities for business
expansion.
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Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood
of occurrence of losses on any particular unlisted
investment. We need to assess risk and return across
different investments. Thus, risk assessment and
detailed due diligence will be conducted before
approving investments. Regular updates on the
progress of our investments would also be submitted to
the Investment Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when the counterparty would fail to
discharge its obligation under the terms and cause a
financial loss to the Group. In order to minimize credit
risk, management has delegated Investment Committee
and the Investment Manager to be responsible for the
monitoring procedures.

Interest rate risk

Our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a
dynamic basis and considers managing this risk in a
cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety
of means.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. The operational risks
are generally managed by each of the departmental
function. We will also identify and assess key
operational exposures regularly so that appropriate risk
response can be taken.
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Management Discusslon
and Analysis
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Manpower and retention risk

We may encounter the challenge of not being able
to attract and retain key personnel and talents with
appropriate and required skills, experience and
competence which would meet the business objectives.
We will provide attractive remuneration package to
suitable candidates and personnel.

Further details of financial risk management objectives
and policies are set out in the note 4(b) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 120 to
125.

Environmental policy and protection

Details are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (“ESG Report”) on pages 47 to 52
of this Annual Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group

During the year, Opes Asia Development Limited (the
former Company name) and certain former executive
directors regrettably received criticisms from the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong regarding certain compliance
matters in the year of 2012-2013. Details of which were
set out in the announcement dated 24 June 2015.

The current Board gives the utmost priority to regulatory
compliance and believes that compliance is not
optional, regardless of the commercial situation. We
continue to strengthen our internal controls on the
compliance with the Listing Rules.

Further details for compliance with other laws are set
out in the ESG Report on pages 47 to 52 of this Annual
Report.
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5. Key relationships with its employees and other
stakeholders
We recognize that our colleagues are our valuable
assets and provide competitive remuneration package
to attract and motivate them. Further details are set out
in the “Workplace” section of the ESG Report on pages
47 to 49 of this Annual Report.

We also consider a good relationship with our
business partners and financial institutions is essential.
Accordingly, the senior management have maintained
good communication, promptly exchanged investment
ideas and shared business update with them when
appropriate.

6. Events after the reporting period
Details of significant events occurring after the reporting
period are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Financial resources and liquidity

As at 31 December 2015, the cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$31.4 million (2014:
approximately HK$116.8 million). The net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$176.0 million as at the
balance sheet date (2014: approximately HK$220.5
million). As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no capital
commitment (2014: approximately HK$0.78 million).

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2015, the gearing ratio calculated as a
percentage of total borrowings over equity attributable to the
owners of the Company was 6% (2014 Nil). The increase in
gearing ratio was due to the new secured bank borrowings
and finance lease.
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Management Discusslon
and Analysis

EEERWED

Property, plant and equipment

As of 31 December 2015, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$31.9 million
(2014: approximately HK$18.0 million). During the year,
the Group had acquired a yacht for promoting company
business. The costs of acquisition were about HK$16.4
million.

Material acquisition and disposal
During the year, there were no significant acquisitions or
disposals of principal subsidiaries.

Share Option Scheme

During the year, the Company granted certain share options
to the directors and its staff as a part of the employee
motivation scheme. As a result, there arose share-based
payments of HK$1,185,000 (2014: Nil), which involved no
cash flow outlays.

Exposure to foreign exchange

Our investment portfolio primarily comprises listed equities
in Hong Kong stock market and debt securities, and other
funds are usually maintained in the banks. Majority of them
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars or United States
dollars. As mentioned in the interim report, we had once
invested in certain RMB bonds. In the last quarter of 2015,
the Board decided to minimize the exposure in the currency
of RMB and disposed all of the then holding in RMB bonds
accordingly. Thus, the Board considers the Group has no
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation at the
end of the financial year.
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Capital structure

Share consolidation

During the year, the Company implemented a share
consolidation of every ten existing shares of HK$0.01
each in the issued and unissued share capital into one
consolidated share of HK$0.1 each and the board lot
size for trading in the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong was
changed from 30,000 shares to 6,000 consolidated shares.
After such exercise, the number of issued shares was
consolidated from 2,633,272,500 to 263,327,250. Details
of the share consolidation and the change in board lot size
were set out in the circular dated 25 February 2015 and the
announcement dated 13 March 2015.

In August 2015, the Company issued 52,662,000 ordinary
shares at a price of HK$0.51 each, by way of share
placement. The net proceeds of about HK$26.1 million were
intended to be used for general working capital of the Group
and potential investments to be identified. After the above
placing exercise, the issued share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$26,332,725 to HK$31,598,925. The
excess of the placement proceeds over the nominal value of
share capital issued was credited as share premium.

Share premium reduction

During the year, the Company reduced the entire amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company as at 31 December 2014, which was approximately
HK$258.38 million. This credit was reduced and the credit
arising therefrom was entirely transferred to the contributed
surplus account. Immediately upon completion of the share
premium reduction, the credit balance of the contributed
surplus account was increased by approximately HK$258.38
million with a balance of approximately HK$382.79 million.
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The share premium reduction and the subsequent transfer
of the credit arising therefrom to the contributed surplus
account can give us greater flexibility to declare dividends
or make distribution to the shareholders in the future as and
when we considers appropriate. Details of the reasons and
effect of the share premium reduction were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 30 September 2015.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movement on the
share capital of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2015.

Pledge of the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2015, the office premises with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$12.5 million (2014:
approximately HK$13.0 million) was pledged for an
instalment loan and the Group’s obligation under a finance
lease was secured by the Group'’s title to the leased asset,
which had a carrying amount of approximately HK$14.3
million.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2015, the Company has 27 employees,
and all of them were in Hong Kong. Total staff cost and
directors’ remuneration paid for the year was approximately
HK$15.0 million (2014: approximately HK$10.1 million). The
remuneration packages for the employees and the directors
are in line with the prevailing market practice and are
determined on the basis of performance and experience of
each individual.
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Corporate

Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and implementing
a high standard of corporate governance and recognises
that good governance can help the business to deliver
its strategies, generate shareholder value and meet its
obligations towards shareholders and other stakeholders.
The Company has established a governance structure,
and embeds governance and principles in the business to
ensure accountability, fairness, integrity and transparency.
The Board adheres to corporate governance practices by
adopting and complying with the established rules, codes,
guidelines under the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has followed the CG Code and formulated
its own policies and procedures regarding the corporate
governance practices. During the financial year of 2015, the
Company complied with all of the provisions under the CG
Code except for the following:

1. Code provision A.4.1
All the Non-executive Directors were not appointed for
a specific term, however, their appointment are subject
to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
as specified in the bye-laws of the Company.

2. Code provision A.7.1

The code provision A.7.1 requires an agenda and
accompanying board papers should be sent, in full, to
all Directors for regular board meetings and as far as
practicable in all other cases. These papers should be
sent in a timely manner and at least 3 days before the
intended date of a board or board committee meeting
(or other agreed period).

Due to the practical reasons, an agenda and
accompanying board papers have not been sent, in
full, in 38 days in advance to certain meetings of the
Board or Board Committee. Since December 2015, the
Company Secretary has used its best endeavours to
send the agenda and accompanying board paper, in
full to the Board or Board Committee at least 3 days in
advance to the extent practicable.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
the codes of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. All Directors of the Company have confirmed that,
for the year ended 31 December 2015, each director has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for the management
of the Company and the implementation of its investment
policy, which includes, inter alia, the adoption of long term
corporate strategies, assessment of investment projects,
supervision of its management and review of its financial
performance to ensure that the Company’s investments are
conducted in accordance with its objectives. The Company
appointed the professional investment manager to manage
its investment portfolio. During the year, Success Talent
Investments Limited was appointed as its new investment
manager to provide such investment management service.

BOARD SIZE AND COMPOSITION

There are currently five Directors in the Board: the Chairman,
one Executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”). The roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer are currently separate.

The Board will review its size and composition from time
to time. We are committed to continuing Board renewal to
ensure that the Board is infused with fresh perspectives from
time to time and that it always has the necessary diversity
of skills and attributes required to oversee and govern in
the ever-changing operating environment. Since 2014,
three INEDs with backgrounds in the areas of professional
accounting, corporate finance and professional practices
have joined our Board. The Directors’ biographical details
are set out in the section of “Biographical details of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer” on pages 63 to 65.
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The Board and the Nomination Committee had reviewed its
size and composition in December 2015.

The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2015
and as at the date up to this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Man Chan

Executive Director
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings
a year at approximately quarterly intervals in addition to
other Board meetings that are required for significant and
important issues, and for statutory purposes. The Board
meetings are attended by a majority of the Directors in
person or through other electronic means of communication.

Appropriate and sufficient information is provided to the
Board members in a timely manner to keep them abreast
of the Group’s latest development and thus assist them in
discharging their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, other than
resolutions passed in writing by all the Directors, the Board
held a total of thirteen Board meetings. During the year
ended 31 December 2015, the Company convened an
annual general meeting ("“AGM”) and two special general
meetings (“SGM”).
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The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings and &KEEREEZE_ZEZ—HE+-_A=1+—"81#F
general meetings for the year ended 31 December 2015 is ErzEZ@eZMRERSHEXNEFHNAT

set out as below:

Number of meetings attended

HESERE
Name of Directors Board Meetings AGM SGM
EEMR EETEEE BRREFAE RREIKRE
Chairman and Non-executive Director ~ FERIFHTES
Dr. Lam Man Chan MR+ 13 1 2
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FERBREE 13 1 2
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHPTES
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REBET 12 1 2
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy EIBAE LA 13 1 2
Ms. Florence Ng RE|EE LT 13 1 2

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has given KBV IEHTEESE B 2BLERAR

A%

the Company an annual confirmation of independence. The HEEBREZ -AQRRA BELFTHESE

Company considers such Directors to be independent under 3 13{&FrEi3E2|  ZEBEHABI AT o
the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, BEFEERFM R_E—FF+_HA=

+_

business or family relationship among members of the Board H  #Ee<KEMTETANE  2B%5kE

as at 31 December 2015. All of them are free to exercise B - 2 EEHIE EHRELEAHE -
their individual judgment.
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THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the role of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual. To ensure a
balance of power and authority, Dr. Lam Man Chan and Dr.
Yeung Cheuk Kwong have been appointed as the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company respectively.
The major duties of the Chairman are to provide leadership
to the Board and spearhead overall corporate development
and strategic planning whilst the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for implementing the decisions and strategy
approved by the Board and managing day-to-day operations
of the Group with the supports of the Executive Director.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The current Non-executive Director and
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
not appointed for a specific term. However, all Directors
(including Executive and Non-executive) of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting as specified in the bye-laws of the Company.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES

1.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee in
2002 with its written terms of reference formulated
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The current Audit Committee consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr.
Ng Chi Yeung Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and
Ms. Florence Ng. Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has adopted terms of reference
which are in line with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee met regularly during the year to review the
completeness, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements, the Company’s financial reporting
system and internal control procedures, the scope and
nature of the external audit and matters concerning the
engagement of external auditors. The Audit Committee
is also responsible for reviewing the Company’s
interim and annual financial statements and making
recommendations as to the approval of the Company’s
interim and annual financial statements by the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and the attendance of the members at the
meetings for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set
out as below:

Name of Members

EEXZ89

1.
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BRELMRAZREHNEEEMBERE -
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ENAERHNARAZHIRERE MG R
O UWHEFTEHRARNRAZFHRFE

EERLHEER -

TR EREAREBRAZINEH &N
AERBE-F-BEt-A=T-ALF
2 R RBEIIT

Number of meetings attended

REHE HEERRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman) EBIBAESLE (FE) 3
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REGEL 3
Ms. Florence Ng REWL L 3
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Remuneration Committee

The Board established a Remuneration Committee in
2005 primarily to review and make recommendations to
the Board on matters relating to the remuneration of the
Directors and the senior management of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee currently consists of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy
and Ms. Florence Ng. Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted terms of
reference which are in line with the CG Code to review
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings and the attendance of
the members at the meetings for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out as below:

Name of Members
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Number of meetings attended

MEKA HEERRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman) EBIBAESLE (FE) 2
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REBEL 2
Ms. Florence Ng REWL L 2
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3.  Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012.
Currently, the Committee consists of one Executive
Director, namely, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ng
Chi Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and Ms.
Florence Ng. Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon is the Chairman
of the Committee. During the year, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the composition, structure and
size of the board. As mentioned in the Annual Report
of 2014, the Nomination Committee adopted a board
diversity policy, of which details are posted on website
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and the attendance of the members at the
meeting for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set
out as below:

Name of Members

3. REZE®
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Number of meetings attended

MEKA HESRRE
Executive Director HITES

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung TEBREE 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES

Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon (Chairman) REBELT(EE) 1
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy EIEELE 1
Ms. Florence Ng REBEP LT 1

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the total fee paid/
payable in respect of audit services to the external auditor
of the Group, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, was
approximately HK$611,000. In addition, approximately
HK$20,000 was charged for non-audit services, which were
mainly related to taxation services.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board as to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, which
is subject to the approval by the Board and at general
meetings of the Company by the shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
ensure that they are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also ensure the timely publication of such financial
statements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company, HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, with regard to their reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 66 to 68.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate
system of internal control for the Company and has regularly
reviewed the internal control policy so as to safeguard the
Group’s assets.

As mentioned in the Annual Report of 2014, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Risk Assurance Limited, an independent accountancy
firm, was engaged primarily to evaluate the effectiveness of
the internal controls regarding the compliance to the Listing
Rules. During the year, based on the above evaluation, the
Company has implemented certain procedures to enhance
the internal controls thereof.

During the year, the Company also identified and evaluated
its key risks and likely uncertainties. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the findings and risk profile of the Company.
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Internal audit function

Given its small operations, the Company’s internal audit
function has been primarily provided by professional firms or
individual consultants. During the year, the professional firm/
consultant performed work on the internal controls regarding
the compliance to the Listing Rules and risk assessment.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

1. Framework of risk management
Risk management is defined as the overall process of
identifying and understanding its own risks and taking
informed actions. This is to help it achieve its strategic
objectives, reduce the likelihood of failure and decrease
the uncertainty of overall business performance.

Given its size of operations, the Company aims to
adopt a simple and practical approach towards the risk
management process and the quality of risk information
generated. The risk management is also an on-going
process for the Company. Thus, instead of setting up a
separate risk management department, the Company
embeds the risk management features within our
investment management as well as operational areas
(including finance, human resources, and information
technology) and these operating units adopt the risk
management systems on a day-to-day basis. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve relevant objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. Moreover, the
management annually reviews and updates its risk
profile, providing assurances that internal controls
are effective. Thus, the management can provide
assurance to the Board on the effectiveness of the
risk management systems, and the Board will oversee
the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.
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Board roles

According to the Listing Rules, the Board is responsible
for evaluating and determining the nature and extent
of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the issuer’s
strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains sound appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems.
The Board should oversee management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems, and management should
provide a confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness
of these systems.

The Company will also establish a risk management
committee which will establish policies and procedures
for assessing and monitoring risks. Regular portfolio
review will be conducted to monitor, assess and
evaluate relevant risk exposures.

Risk profile

Our approach for managing risk is underpinned by our
understanding of our current risk exposures, and how
our risks are changing over time. The risk assessment
includes identifying relevant objectives, identifying
events that could affect the achievement of objectives,
determining risk tolerance, assessing the likelihood/
significance of risks and evaluating the portfolio of
risks.

The major risks included equity price risk, market
risk, compliance risk and liquidity risk. To minimize
the liquidity risk, the Company rarely used gearing to
enhance its return on investment.

In the context of a fast-changing global/local business
environment and highly-volatile financial market, market
risk, equity price risk and emergent risks are generally
high and their monitoring will need ongoing efforts.
We will implement the risk management system, phase
by phase, and will integrate internal controls and risk
management into our investment operation on a day-to-
day basis in order to improve the process.
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BUSINESS AWARENESS, DEVELOPMENT AND
TRAINING

Through the course of their directorship, Directors are
updated on any developments or changes affecting the
Company and their obligations to it at regular Board
meetings. In order to ensure that Directors continue to
further their understanding of the issues facing the Group,
the Company will further strengthen the provision of Board
training, ranging from corporate governance to regulatory
issues.

Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution into the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Directors are committed
to complying with the code provision A.6.5 which came into
effect on 1 April 2012 on directors’ training.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars and studying materials
relevant to their duties and responsibilities. The Company
Secretary also provided updated information and relevant
training materials for the self-study of Directors.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ liabilities in respect of potential legal actions
against the Directors arising out of corporate activities of
the Group pursuant to code provision A.1.8 of the new CG
Code. Such directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed and
renewed annually. Throughout the year ended 31 December
2015, no claim has been made against the Directors.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The joint company secretaries of the Company, Mr. Leung
Yiu Wah and Ms. Cheng Suk Fun, have duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

Address: Flat 18, 9/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre,
21 Man Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

Email: info@hk0810.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meeting

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at the shareholders’ meeting. The number of
shareholders shall represent not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights of all shareholders having at the date
of the requisition having a right to vote at the shareholders’
meeting, or who are no less than one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution,
accompanied by a statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution of the business to be dealt with
at the shareholders’ meeting. It must also be signed by
all the shareholders concerned and be deposited at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Flat 18, 9/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21 Man Lok
Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention
of the Company Secretary not less than six weeks before
the shareholders’ meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution and not less than one week before the
shareholders’ meeting in case of any other requisition.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
serving the notice for the resolution and circulating the
statement submitted by the shareholders concerned under
applicable laws and rules.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene a SGM

The Board shall, on the requisition in writing of the
shareholders of not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company upon which all calls or other sums then due
have been paid, forthwith proceed to convene a SGM.

If within twenty-one days of such deposits the Board
fails to convene the SGM, the requisitions or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after three months
from the date of the original deposit.

The Company continues to improve its corporate governance
and believes it is fundamental for the development of the
Company as well as for the benefits of the shareholders. The
Board is pleased to confirm that the Company has complied
with the CG Code applicable during the year.
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Business sustainability framework consists of five overriding
dimensions of economic, governance, social, ethical and
environmental performance. These dimensions can be
viewed as inter-dependent, and poverty alleviation and
environmental conservation are central in sustainable
development. In this connection, corporate social
responsibility emerges and, according to World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, it is defined as the
continuing commitment by businesses to behave ethically
and contribute to economic development while improving the
quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as of
the local community and society at large.

Our Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) policy

CSR is viewed as a business philosophy that creates
sustainable value for shareholders by embracing
opportunities and managing risks deriving from economic,
environmental and social developments. Our CSR policy
defines our long-term approach to specific issues in
our cornerstones: Workplace, Environment, Ethic and
Community, which is instrumental in enabling our business
to operate in a sustainable manner. Within each of the
cornerstones, core principles and pragmatic objectives
provide guidance on practicing CSR in our daily operations.

WORKPLACE

1. Our values

We aim to foster a supportive and quality working
environment by upholding employment practices
that treat employees fairly and equally, safeguarding
employee rights and interests, providing opportunities
for training and development, and facilitating
meaningful communication within the Company. The
value underpinning is the respect of our staff and we
treat our staff with fairness and respect, and maintain a
working environment to realise their full potential.
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2.  Staff composition 2. BIAMK
As at 31 December, 2015, we employed a total of 27 R-E—FRE+-_A=+—H ' X2rsd
staff, and all of them are located in Hong Kong. HERA27ZEE  2HHUNEE -
Age Senior Staff General Staff
Fir SHRET —RET
No. of staff % No. of staff %
8I%R ETHH
Below 31 31T - - 1 6
31-40 31-407%% 1 9 -
41-50 41-50%% 2 18 7 44
50 or above 507% 3k LA £ 8 73 8 50
Total @z 11 100 16 100
Gender Senior Staff General Staff
4 5l SHRET —RET
No. of staff % No. of staff %
BI#HR ET#H
Female zM 5 45 7 44
Male EERis 6 55 9 56
Total @Et 11 100 16 100
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Human resources policies
Our human resources policies are internal guidelines
on the approach we adopt in managing our people.
They cover different aspects of human resources
management such as recruitment, promotion,
compensation and training.

We provide our employees with fair and competitive
remuneration to motivate them. We also endeavour
to retain our colleagues and during the year, we
issued 8,060,000 share options to the Directors and
our employees which can enable them to enjoy the
performance of the Company.

Labour standards, healthy and safe workplace

We do not believe that we operate in environments that
carry high risks for child labour and forced labour, as
our operations are based in Hong Kong. There is full
compliance towards labour or other relevant legislations
that prohibit child/forced labour. Health and safety
issues are also of fundamental concern to us.

Development and training

The management and implementation of the training
program should align with the strategy and mission
of the Group. The Human Resources Department and
the department heads will regularly assess the training
requirements. Training also helps colleagues learn new
skills at regular intervals, further benefitting their career
development.

Environmental, Social and
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

We care for the environment by minimising the environmental
impact concerning our activities, as well as products
and services engaged. Going beyond compliance with
applicable legal requirements, we aspire to prevent pollution,
reduce waste, increase recycling and minimize natural
resource use by continually improving our environmental
management practices and measures, educating our
colleagues to adopt environmentally responsible behaviour,
and promoting environmental protection in our supply chain
and marketplace.

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected
by our continuous efforts in promoting green measures and
awareness in our daily business operations. We adhere to
the principle of Recycling and Reducing, and implement
green office practices such as double-sided printing and
copying, promoting using recycled paper and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance. We also increase the use of equipment
carrying Energy Label issued by the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department. The management will
review its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing eco-friendly measures and practices
in our operation.

ETHIC

We aim to maintain high ethical standards in the operating
practices employed in the conduct of our business and
we encourage our suppliers and business associates to
embrace high standards similar to our own. We are also
committed to maintaining good corporate governance.

1. Operating practices — compliance with laws and

regulations

We have established policies and procedures on
compliance with laws and regulations, and our
employees are required to adhere to high standards
of business and professional and ethical conduct. It is
the Company’s policy that employees must comply fully
with all applicable laws and regulations.
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Anti-corruption

The Company is committed to ensuring that no bribes,
payment or advantages are solicited from or given or
offered to any persons, whether in the public or private
sector, for any purpose, which can ensure the strict
adherence to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. We
regard honesty, integrity and fair play as the core values
that must be upheld by our colleagues at all times.

Regulatory compliance

The Company, together with the current Board, gives
the utmost priority to regulatory compliance. The
principles behind the Listing Rules are to maintain
confidence in the market; to ensure investors are given
sufficient information to make a properly informed
assessment of the Company; and to ensure that the
Company can keep the investors and the public fully
informed, in a timely manner, of material factors which
might affect their interests. Thus, compliance with the
disclosure requirements for the timely and accurate
publication of annual results and financial information is
of fundamental importance to ensure the maintenance
of a fair and orderly market.

In the last quarter of 2014, the Company engaged
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Risk Assurance Limited, an
independent accountancy firm, primarily to evaluate
the effectiveness of the internal controls regarding the
compliance to the Listing Rules, and the exercise was
finished in early 2015. The Company has implemented
certain procedures to enhance the internal controls
thereof.
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COMMUNITY

We help to build a sustainable community by supporting
local initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits to
the community through corporate philanthropy, establishing
community partnerships, and mobilising our employees to
participate in volunteer work.

1. Community contributions
We contribute to the communities in which we operate
and our policy will be communicated to the Company’s
stakeholders, including our employees, shareholders,
and business partners. We are committed to the
continual development of this policy and its integration
into our operations.

2. Community investment and involvement

We strive to be a part of our communities, to serve and
contribute by promoting corporate social responsibility.
There are several focus areas of community
involvement, which are education, poverty alleviation,
health, the elderly and culture. Thus, we contribute
to Non-Government Organizations providing welfare,
educational, recreational and cultural services to the
community.

We will also actively encourage staff to volunteer their
time and core skills to benefit local communities. It
gives employees the chance to find out more about
the social and environmental issues and reinforce our
corporate values.
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The Directors present the Annual Report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is principally engaged in investment in
equity and debt securities in order to achieve medium to
long term capital appreciation. An analysis of the Group’s
performance for the year by operating segment is set out
in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the year, there were no significant changes to the Group’s
principal activities. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the group and an indication of likely
future developments in the group’s business can be found in
the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages
24 to 32 of this Annual Report. This discussion forms part of
this Directors’ Report.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

During the year, the Company changed its name from Opes
Asia Development Limited to China Internet Investment
Finance Holdings Limited, to highlight the Group’s new focus
in the internet investment and finance sector. The Board
believed that the change could provide the Company with
a fresh corporate identity and image which would benefit
its future business development which is in line with the
Company’s existing business line and investment objectives.
Details were set out in the Company’s circular dated 30
September 2015 and announcements dated 28 August 2015
and 8 December 2015.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 and the state of affairs at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 183. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements and restated
and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 184. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

The Company has not purchased, sold or redeemed any of
its own shares during the year ended 31 December 2015.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the statement of changes in equity on
pages 73 to 75.

SHARE PREMIUM REDUCTION

Details are set out in the section of capital structure of the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 31 to 32
of this Annual Report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had no distributable
reserve because its accumulated losses amounted to about
HK$44.6 million. If all of the balance of contributed surplus
account had been transferred to the retained reserve
account, the amount available for distribution would have
been increased by about HK$181.2 million.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as
disclosed in the below section headed “Share Options”
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 31 July 2012, the
Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”),
which is valid and effective for a period of ten years from
the date of adoption. Under the Scheme, the Company may
grant options to, inter alias, directors and employees of
the Company or its subsidiaries and other participants to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

Report of
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The movements of the options granted under the Scheme
during the year and as at 31 December 2015 were as

IR0 AT B R b 2 AR I 4 79 2 B BB R
—E-HE+-AST—BZERMT

follows:
No. of share options
BhREHA
Lapsed and
Granted  Eercised  cancelled Outstanding
Date of Exercise during during during asat
Grantee Position Grant Exercise period pice  theyear  theyear  theyear 311122015
W-%-1%
t2A8
RER  =t-8
ARA B RLAH fTEHE ke REARE RERGRE XAREE HAGH
HKS
BT
Lee Kwok Leung Executive Director 28/08/2015 2810812015 to 27/08/2018 0.431 1,600,000 - - 1,600,000
28R $17ES E-1f ZE-IENAZTNRE
NEZHIE ZE-\ENAZTLH
Ng Chi Yeung, Simon ~ Independent Non-executive Director ~ 28/08/2015 281082015 to 27/08/2018 0431 200,000 - - 200,000
it BUENES ik ZE-REN\AZTNBE
NAZ+IH ZE-\ENAZTLER
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy  Independent Non-executive Director ~ 28/08/2015 28/08/2015 to 27/08/2018 0.431 200,000 - - 200000
Eedika BUFHES Z5-nf Z2-RE/\AZT\BE
NAZ+/\H ZE-\ENAZTLE
Florence Ng Independent Non-executive Director ~ 28/08/2015 28082015 to 27/08/2018 0431 200,000 - - 200,000
REF BUFHAES E-nf 2R \AZTNBE
NBZt/H ZE-NENRZ TR
Yeung Cheuk Kwong ~ Chief Executive Officer 28/08/2015 2810812015 to 27/08/2018 0431 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
REk s il ZE-RENAZTNBE
NAZHIH ZE-ENAZTLR
Other employees N/A 28/08/2015 2810812015 to 27/08/2018 0.431 3,360,000 - - 3,360,000
= NER it ZE-REVAZTNBE
NAZtMR ZE-NENAZTLER
Total #318,060,000 - - 8,060,000
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Man Chan

Executive Director
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, Dr. Lam
Man Chan and Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offers themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2015, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules, below were the interest and
short positions of the directors and chief executives of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

EERTETHAEBRARR TR AEES
Bzt HEROREFZEERAR

W-ZZEZ—HAF+-_A=+—H BELTHEI
Tl EMB T AERRTESFRHMIZETA]
UTABRRAZEEREZITRABRAR A
SEFAEBZE(TERELFRBERD) 2
B - BEERGREST  EAREBEEFARBE
1R BIEXVE E3526 AR BIMEBHFE 2 &Lt
it RBZTANSERARRAREABAERS
FTERARARIZCEZRABIT ¢

pursuant to section 352 of part XV of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited:

Number of shares held

FEROEA
Name of Percentage
Directors and Chief Long Short  No. of share of issued
Executive Officer Position Notes Nature of interest position position  options held share capital
g EEfT
BERTHAHNLS Rife ME BEME #a Xe2  REHE RAESH
Lam Man Chan Chairman and 1 Interests of a settlor 75,775,000 - - 23.98%
(“Dr. Lam") Non-executive Director and protector of a
S AN FEEREDTES discretionary trust
PREFZELAR
REAZER
Lee Kwok Leung Executive Director 2 Beneficial owner - - 1,600,000 0.51%
ZER BES EnEA
Ng Chi Yeung, Simon Independent 2 Beneficial owner - - 200,000 0.06%
REH Non-executive Director EREBA
BUFHITES
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy  Independent 2 Beneficial owner - - 200,000 0.06%
S Non-executive Director EREBA
BUFHITES
Florence Ng Independent 2 Beneficial owner - - 200,000 0.06%
RER Non-executive Director EREBA
BUFHITES
Yeung Cheuk Kwong Chief Executive Officer 2 Beneficial owner - - 2,500,000 0.79%
BEk THREH ERfBA
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Notes:

1. The interests are held by Goodchamp, which is directly owned
by Sinowin Unit Trust (Sinowin (PTC) Inc. as its trustee), which
is 100% owned by the Richmond Trust (a discretionary trust in
which HSBC International Trustee Limited is the trustee). Dr.
Lam, who is the Chairman and Non-executive Director of the
Company, is the settlor and protector of Richmond Trust.

2. These represented the shares options granted by the
Company. Details have been set out in the above section with
the header “Share Options”.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Report of
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2015, so far as was known to the
directors or chief executive of the Company, the following
persons (other than the interests disclosed above in respect
of certain directors and chief executive of the Company)
has, or is deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO are set
out below:

ERRERREMATRRORBERND 28

|.H,

Bk

NZEBE-—RAF+_A=+—H REARAESE
FTFBTHAERM U TFAL(REIELEXH
ARARETESERFTETHRAEBMBEZ E)
REARBZBRHOKBERDY  HEXAERAE
BHBRERNBIEES R BEKHIEIB6CKTE
2Bz THERRAR

Capacity/ Percentage
Name of shareholders Note Nature of interest Long position  Short position of holding
R & Mt £ B ERME "R - FREDE
Goodchamp Holdings 1 Beneficial owner 75,775,000 - 23.98%
Limited ERBEAA
Sinowin (PTC) Inc. 1 Interest of controlled 75,775,000 - 23.98%
corporation
XEHEE s #a
HSBC International 1 Trustee 75,775,000 - 23.98%
Trustee Limited EFEA

Note:

1. The interests are held by Goodchamp, which is directly owned
by The Sinowin Unit Trust (Sinowin (PTC) Inc. as its trustee),
which is 100% owned by the Richmond Trust (a discretionary
trust in which HSBC International Trustee Limited is the
trustee). Dr. Lam, who is the Chairman and Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the settlor and protector of
Richmond Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the
directors and chief executive of the Company are not aware
of any persons who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

Wit -

1. ZE#RTyiGoodchamp A - MZ A F 5 H
The Sinowin Unit Trust(Sinowin (PTC) Inc.A
HEESA)EEEE - MThe Sinowin Unit Trust
8] BRichmond Trust (KB —E2EETm
HSBC International Trustee Limited&{Z3EA)
100% B - RAFIEREFNTEENEL A
Richmond TrustZ Bl A RAREA ©

BEXAREEN  R-F-EF+-A=+—
R ARABERTETHABETAEA M
MATHRART 2 BH BB + HEED
SRR IR A R 0 B30T B 2 B R
ZRRIAE -
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

EMOLUMENTS POLICY

The emoluments policy for the Directors of the Company
are decided by Remuneration Committee, with reference
to his respective qualifications and experiences, duties
and responsibilities with the Company, the Company’s
performance and the prevailing market situation.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

INDEPENDENCY OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

Report of
the Directors
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Regor_t of
the Directors
EEERES

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Except as detailed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the bye-laws, every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Group has maintained directors’ liability
insurance, which provides appropriate cover for legal
actions brought against the Directors and Directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited who will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Man Chan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Blographical Oetalls of Ourectors
and Chlef executive 0Offlcer

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Lam Man Chan, aged 66, joined the Company on 11
February 2014. He has over 30 years of management
experience and in depth knowledge of the electronics
industry. He was graduated from the World Electric
Engineering College in 1969. Dr. Lam holds an honorary
degree of Doctor of Science from Armstrong University in the
United States. He is currently the chairman of Ngai Lik Group
Limited (“Ngai Lik"). He is responsible for the formulation
of corporate strategy and overall direction of Ngai Lik. Dr.
Lam has invested in different industries, including securities
broking, finance business, hotel development, motor cycle
business and properties investment. He was granted the
Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong in 1994 and the
World Outstanding Chinese Award in 2005. He was once a
standing committee member of Qingyuan Region Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(“CPPCC”) and a committee member of Guangdong
Provincial Committee and Dongguan Regional Committee
of CPPCC. Dr. Lam had been the chairman and executive
director of Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited (stock code:
00332), a company publicly listed on the Stock Exchange,
during the period from 28 February 1992 to 11 January
2010. Dr. Lam is the husband of Ms. Ting Lai Ling who is the
Project and Administration General Manager of the Company
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Dr.
Lam is the father of Ms. Lam Mee Yee who is the Chief
Investment Officer of the Company.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, aged 62, joined the Company on 8
May 2014, He is a licensed person to carry out type 9 (asset
management) regulated activity under the SFO. He has
approximately 15 years of relevant experience by serving as
one of the responsible officers of Success Talent Investments
Limited, the investment manger of the Company, providing
investment advisory services to and managing investment
portfolios for professional/institutional investors mainly in
Greater China and Hong Kong. Mr. Lee has strong experience
in portfolio construction, portfolio management, risk assessment
and investment due diligence. Furthermore, Mr. Lee was the
managing director of BOCI Direct Management Limited from
1992 to 1999. In this private equity fund, he was responsible
for the overall management of the fund.

Currently, Mr. Lee is an executive director of Mayer Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01116) and an independent non-
executive director of Imperial Pacific International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01076), both companies publicly listed
on the Stock Exchange.
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Blographical DOetails of Oirectors
and Chief Executive Officer

EERITHAERZBAEHR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Ng Chi Yeung Simon, aged 58, joined the Company on 26
November 2013. Dr. Ng is a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong.
He is a consultant of Rowland Chow, Chan & Company,
a law firm in Hong Kong. Dr. Ng holds a bachelor degree
from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the United
Kingdom, a master degree in Chinese and Comparative
Law, and a doctor degree in worship studies from the
Robert Webber Institute for Worship Studies. Dr. Ng is
also a Part-time Lecturer of the Department of Professional
Legal Education of The University of Hong Kong. Dr. Ng is
currently an independent non-executive director of two other
publicly listed companies in Hong Kong, namely, Century
Sage Scientific Holdings Limited (stock code: 01450) and
Winfair Investment Company Limited (stock code: 00287).
He had once been an independent non-executive director
of Kith Holdings Limited (now known as Tesson Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 01201) and Long Success International
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 08017), each company
publicly listed on the Stock Exchange, up to 1 July, 2014
and 18 October 2013 respectively.

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang Sammy, aged 52, joined the Company
on 31 December 2013. He graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is currently
the president of Essentack Limited, a corporate strategy
and management advisory company. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Huajin International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 02738), a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. He had once been
an independent non-executive director of KEE Holdings
Limited (stock code: 02011), Renheng Enterprise Holdings
Limited (stock code: 03628), Kith Holdings Limited (now
known as Tesson Holdings Limited) (stock code: 01201)
and Long Success International (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 08017), Each company publicly listed on the Stock
Exchange, up to 17 February 2016, 31 October 2014, 1 July
2014 and 18 October 2013 respectively.

Ms. Florence Ng, aged 52, joined the Company on 31
December 2013. She is a solicitor of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region. Ms. Ng holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree from the San Francisco State University, a
Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London and
a Master of Laws degree from the City University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Ng has over 10 years of business management
experience in the high-tech industry in Canada. Ms. Ng has
held senior management positions in several computer and
internet companies and she was responsible for general
management and oversaw their operations of the sales,
marketing and purchasing.
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Blographical Details of Directors

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong, aged 53, joined the Company on
7 July 2014. Dr. Yeung holds a Doctor degree of Business
Administration from the City University of Hong Kong with a
distinction award, a Master degree in Finance from the City
University of Hong Kong with distinction, a Bachelor degree
of Science (Economics) from the University of London, a
Master degree in Corporate and Financial Law from the
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor degree of Laws
from Manchester Metropolitan University.

Dr. Yeung has held senior management positions for about
25 years. He has extensive experiences and knowledge in
mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance, investment
in various asset classes, such as fixed income securities
and equities, as well as tax planning. Dr. Yeung is also a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a Fellow Member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an
Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Dr. Yeung was the executive
director and chief financial officer of Great Wall Electronic
International Limited (now known as EPI (Holdings) Limited)
(stock code: 00689) from 1995 to 2000, a company publicly
listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also the executive
director, chief financial officer and company secretary of
Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited (now known as Yuan
Heng Gas Holdings Limited) (stock code: 00332) from 2000
to 2010, a company publicly listed on the Stock Exchange.
Dr. Yeung is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of
Ngai Lik Group Limited, a private company controlled by Dr.
Lam Man Chan, Chairman, Non-executive Director and the
deemed substantial shareholder of the Company.

Dr. Yeung has been also an executive committee of Hong
Kong Electronics Industry Council under the Federation of
Hong Kong Industries since 2015.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BIXHENERES

HLB

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE
HOLDINGS LIMITED (FORMERLY KNOWN
AS OPES ASIA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED)

(Continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited (the
“‘Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 183, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BN EEE

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BB EES

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2015 and of its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FEReR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & —=

—RFE+-A=1+—RLEFE

2015 2014
—E-RF —HF
Notes HK$000 HK$OOO
fat FAET FAET
Turnover BT 8 92,457 50,210
Equity securities disposed of EHRAEZESH (90,288) (52,569)
Net realised gain/(loss) on Hx$ EHoE#
equity securities =/ (BA) ﬁ}%ﬁ 9 2,169 (2,359)
Net unrealised fair value loss on %fz@fﬂﬁ?r)\%éﬁﬁz
financial assets at fair value CRMEERERANE
through profit or loss a5 9 (24,334) (32,650)
Dividend income Hx S 1,863 188
Listed debt securities interest income _FH{EKEH 2 WA 1,281 52
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale EETT?E&E MEEZ
financial assets =gt (1,876) -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A #tHESMEE 2 FE
financial assets B8 (220) (2,920)
Impairment loss on other receivables i & W 5k 18 2 I (& 5 18 = (19,052)
Loss on disposal of assets classified HEDFEAZIELE 2
as held for sale BEZEE - (7,200)
Change in fair value of derivative FH&ZTT’*‘ EHZITHE D
component in convertible ZRREBEEE
bond receivable - (393)
Interest income on convertible bond A # &% & % 2 7| B UL A - 3,264
Gross loss Ei8 (21,117) (61,070)
Other income HAtb g A 10 765 4,180
Administrative expenses TEAE (26,293) (25,079)
Other operating expenses Hip &M X (1,405) (2,728)
Written off of property, plant and WiEME - BERRE
equipment = (1,071)
Loss from operations EiEBE (48,050) (85,768)
Finance costs BE KA 11 (193) -
Share of results of an associate JEIGEEE DRI R 257 -
Loss before income tax BREFS R RIS 12 (47,986) (85,768)
Income tax expenses FIEHFAX 14 = (4)
Loss for the year FEFE (47,986) (85,772)
Loss for the year attributable RAREE NEML
to the owners of the Company FEEB (47,986) (85,772)
Loss per share attributable RATEE ANEML
to the owners of the Company SREE 15
Basic (HK cents) AR (B (16.83) (64.69)
Diluted (HK cents) 5 (B) (16.83) (64.69)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMI Z M Bt SRS EmE 2 ERE S -

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERERREMZERRR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—h&E+-_A=+—HILEE

2015 2014
—E-40f% —T-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FExT T
Loss for the year FEEE (47,986) (85,772)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  HfbZEUE,~ (E#E)
Items that may be reclassified HEEMIEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BR2IEE:
Changes in fair value of AHHESHEEZ
available-for-sale financial assets NREE (6) (1,299)
Reclassification of available-for-sale FEHE B AEFEHE
fair value reserve upon disposal BEMEAHELEEARE
of assets classified as held for sale  f#E#EEHH4E - 7,200
Reclassification of available-for-sale  F B HERRE B 45 7] i
fair value reserve upon PEANERESTHE
impairment loss recognised 220 2,920
Release of available-for-sale fair B H & — T B A 7] i # A4
value reserve upon disposal HER R EREER
of a subsidiary - (1,310)
Release of translation reserve upon  EHEWE QT ME
disposal of subsidiaries P 5 R - 56
Other comprehensive income FEHEME2ENE
for the year, net of income tax (BB FT5RL) 214 7,567
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEZHEEA%E (47,772) (78,205)
Total comprehensive loss attributable <2 B #EH A FE{L
to the owners of the Company 2HEEBARE (47,772) (78,205)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R e MBS R

At 31 December 20156 R —ZE—H&E+-HA=+—8H

2015 2014
—E-1F —E—lmEF
Notes HK$000 HK$000
HiaF FET FAET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 16 31,851 17,983
Intangible asset BEEE 17 120 120
Available-for-sale financial assets AERESREE 18 20,484 14,112
Interest in an associate TN g 19 9,813 -
62,268 32,215
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value BARERFABRZ
through profit or loss TREE 20 154,291 97,386
Other receivables, prepayments HAh pEWGRIE
and deposits FENFIB MRS 23 1,819 2,001
Cash and bank balances Re MR1TERS 24 31,426 116,830
187,536 216,217
Assets classified as held for sale DEABELEZEE 25 5,900 5,900
193,436 222,117
Total assets EEMBE 255,704 254,332
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BEkRERE

At 31 December 20156 R —ZE—H&E+-HA=+—8”

2015 2014
—E-REF —gF
Notes HK$000 HK$000
e FExT FAET
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the owners RATHEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital [N 26 31,599 26,333
Reserves 5 200,701 226,418
Total equity EREE 232,300 252,751
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REIEE
Other payables and accruals HivEe I ROB MERT RS 27 9,680 1,581
Secured bank loan BEBIRITER 28 4,518 -
Obligation under a finance lease mERS 7¥<Tf" 29 3,245 -
17,443 1,581
Non-current liability kRBEE
Obligation under a finance lease BB ERE 29 5,961 -
Total liabilities BEHE 23,404 1,581
Total equity and liabilities EnkBERRE 255,704 254,332
Net current assets REEEFHE 175,993 220,536
Total assets less current liabilities BEABERRBER 238,261 252,751

Approved by the Board on 30 March 2016 and signed on its

—F—
behalf by: TEEREXF

Lam Man Chan Lee Kwok Leung
PRI ZFEIR
Director Director

EF EFE

/\E:ﬂ “tREEFSHELHIN

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMi Mt At S HGEAMBRER ZAEKID ©

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERRERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—hE+-_A=+—HILEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

NG 2N 1
Available-
Share-based forsale
Share Share  Contributed ~ payments  fairvalue  Translation Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total

ktt  AHAE
B RRE  SARR  ARERE OAEER  EXER  RIER it
HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKS00D  HKS000  HK$000
thr  TEnr  TEr  TEr AL AR TEn  TEn

At 1 January 2014 R-E-ME-F-B 350 27415 124404 4080 (7664) (G6) (15769 75983
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - - (85772)  (85772)
Other comprehensive Ah2ENE/

income/(loss) (B8)

Items that may be reclassified ~ EfTENHEERR
subsequently to profit or oss: LER:

- Change in fair value of - ESREARE

available-for-sale financial PANHEL L)

assets - - - - (1,299) - - (1,299)
- Reclassffication of -RAHERBRR

available-for-sale fair value [EHEZEE

reserve upon disposal of [ilsEss

assets classified as MEREER

held for sale 78 - - - - 7.200 - - 7,200
- Reclassffication of -RERAAEESE

available-for-sale fgARGLE

fair value reserve upon D EREER

impairment loss recognised 28 - - - - 2,920 - - 2,920
- Release of avalable-forsale  —~RHE-FHKELA

fair value reserve upon MHARLE

disposal of a subsidiary N EREER - - - - (1,310) - - (1,310)
- Release of translation reserve  ~RHEREAT

upon disposal of subsidiaries  HE X FEEA - - - - - 5 - 5

Total comprehensive income/ ~ FE2EUE/

(loss) for the year, net (BB &8
of income tax EMRAEH - - - - 7511 5% (85772)  (78,205)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HERRERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—h&E+-_A=+—HILEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

OGP, 3
Available-
Share-based forsale
Share Share  Contributed ~ payments  fairvalue  Translation Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R TfLE
Bx RVEE  BARR  fFEE LRERE  EXRE  ZHEB ot
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T Th Thr T T T T T
Proceeds from placing REMRRZ
of new shares HETE 1,582 45,690 - - - - - 47272
Issuing expenses of placing REHRR 2
of new shares BORY - (1,291) - - - - - (1,291)
Proceeds from rights issue IR A ETHRG
of new shares LFE5E 21066 189,596 - - - - - 210662
Issuing expenses of rights issue ~ MERA R FHRA
of new shares LBORY - (6,230) - - - - - (6,230)
Share options granted ERRH 2 ERE
during the year - - - 2,242 - - - 2,242
Share options exercised Tz ERE
during the year 9 3,202 - (977) - - - 2,318
Share options lapsed/cancelled  FRBXM/ 5k
during the year LB - - - (5,326) - - 5,326 -
At 31 December 2014 and R-2-mf
1 January 2015 tZAz+-Bk
SE-RE-B-B 2633 258382 124,404 - (153) - (156215) 252,751
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - (47986)  (47.986)
Other comprehensive Ath2EkE/
income/{loss) (B8)
ltems that may be reclassified £ TENHEEER
subsequently to profit or loss: LER:
- Change in fair value of -IRIESREE
available-for-sale LINER
financial assets - - - - (6) - - (6)
- Reclassffication of -FERAAEEE
available-for-sale fair value MRARLE
feserve upon impairment MEREER
loss recognised 78 - - - - 220 - - 220
Total comprehensive income/  EE2ERE/
(loss) for the year, net (BR)a%:
of income tax EAIRFEH - - - - 214 - (4re8e) (472
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERRERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—hE+-_A=+—HILEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

NG 2N 1
Available-
Share-based for-sale
Share Share  Contributed ~ payments  fairvalue  Translation Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B AEHE
Rx  RBEE  GARS%  AREE LAERE  EXRE  ZHER h
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TiEn T TiEn Fin T T Thr T
Proceeds from placing REMRRZ
of new shares HETE 5,266 21501 - - - - - 26,857
Issuing expenses of placing REHRR 2
of new shares BhARR - (721) - - - - - (721)
Share options granted R FRE
during the year - - - 1,185 - - - 1,185
Transfer o contributed surplus ~~ EEZH AR
(note) W) - (58382 258382 - - - - -
Elimination of accumulated losses A A B &1 355
at 31 December 2014 ZE-METZA
against contributed surplus ST-AZEHER
(note) Wz - - (156980) - - - 156980 -
At 31 December 2015 R-2-1%
tZA=1-H 31,599 20,870 225,806 1,185 61 - (47221) 232,300
Note: During the year, the Company reduced the entire amount @z : &R AAFEHARAFBROEEER -

standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company as at 31 December 2014, which was
approximately HK$258,382,000. This credit was reduced
and the credit arising therefrom was entirely transferred
to the contributed surplus account. Immediately upon
completion of the share premium reduction, the credit
balance of the contributed surplus account was increased
by approximately HK$258,382,000 with a balance of
approximately HK$382,786,000 before set off against the
accumulated losses. Details of the reasons and effect of
share premium reduction were set out in the circular of
the Company dated 30 September 2015. Subsequent to
the completion of share premium reduction, the Company
applied approximately HK$156,980,000 in the contributed
surplus account to set off against the accumulated losses as
at 31 December 2014 in full.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

—NEF AT BAZ2HERLEYD
258,382,000/ JT ° Itk it BR 7 LA B8 M e Bl
RMEEZEFECH2HEBREZARSBE -
BZRERBRDEETKE BARBREZH
B 45 %5 T 38 N #9258,382,00058 7T I &5 84 40 &
382,786,000/ T (TEHE 8 R BB AT) < 1T
B aERIRZRAREFEZFHHARN
AARBHAE-ZZ—AFNA=ZTHZEK-
REXBRGDEEEHRE - AAFESHETHAR
#4851 49156,980,0008 T ABEEEN = F
—MFE+ZA=F+—HZZRiEE-

BEPH 2 P EE R UL FhR A MR IR 2 AR D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBeRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—h&E+-_A=+—HILEE

2015 2014
—E-AE —Z=—UF
Notes HK$000 HK$000
Hi et FAET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities KEEKRERE
Loss before income tax BRETISHLRIEE (47,986) (85,768)
Adjustments for: BATIHE AR :
Net realised (gain)/loss on listed FikAESREBEE
equity securities (W) /BEFE 9 (2,169) 2,359
Net unrealised fair value loss on RAREFABRZ
financial assets at fair value PREECRER
through profit or loss AR EEEFE 9 24,334 32,650
Loss on disposal of available- HEAHLESREE
for-sale financial assets 2 & 1,876 -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AIftHE SR EE 2
financial assets BIEEE 220 2,920
Impairment loss on other H U RIE 2
receivables RIEEE - 19,052
Loss on disposal of asset classified HEDEAIBTIELE 2
as held for sale BEMNEE - 7,200
Change in fair value of derivative JEE W AT # f 1E 55 2 0T A
component in convertible bond Bz AREE
receivable - 393
Interest income on convertible bond AR &% 2 F| B A - (3,264)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBE QR Z WS - (1,364)
Depreciation e 16 3,610 1,675
Share options granted for the year 4 R BT #% ) 8 B% 34 1,185 2,242
Net exchange (gain)/loss [EH (W), BiEFE (38) 186
Written off of property, WEmE - BEREE
plant and equipment - 1,071
Share of results of an associate JEIGEEE DRI EE 19 (257) -
Operating loss before working EEEASEBA 2
capital changes KEEE (19,225) (20,648)
Proceeds from sales of listed HE ETRAEH
equity securities Z P15 5A 8 92,457 47,410
Proceeds from disposal of assets PESBERFBELE
classified as held for sale 2 BEFEIA - 2,800
Proceeds from disposal of listed HEEMEBRES
debt securities < FT1S308 22,302 -
Payment for purchases of listed BE FmRABHFAR
equity securities (171,555) (160,432)
Payment for purchases of listed BELIMEBESNK
debt securities (30,489) (14,264)
Decrease in other receivables, HA R IR - BT RIB R
prepayments and deposits Ze R 1,060 13,697
Decrease in deposits for acquisition WEER AT &R
of investments - 510
Decrease/(increase) in fixed deposit  FHF R L, (3E0) 12,500 (12,500)
Increase in other payables HAn N RIBE R
and accruals JE &5 235 N 7,543 1,005
Cash used in operations KEXBHAES (85,407) (142,422)
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid 2 tH MRS - (4)
Net cash used in operating activities &&EEKHHAZH L FHE (85,407) (142,426)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBeRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—hE+-_A=+—HILEE

2015 2014
—E-0F —ET—mF
Notes HK$000 HK$000
k3 FERT FHET
Cash flows from investing activies REXKRERE
Purchases of property, BEWE WELRSE
plant and equipment 16 (17,478) (18,906)
Acquisition of equity U RgH & AR 2 IR A &
interest in an associate 19 (9,000) -
Net cash inflow on disposal LEMBRAR RS
of subsidiaries MA R - 2,828
Net cash used in investing activites 1B EHKBHH 2R FHE (26,478) (16,078)
Cash flows from financing activites TEXKRERE
Net proceeds from placing of new fL &L w1
ordinary shares FIBFE 26,136 45,981
Net proceeds from share options BIREETE 2 E
exercised FRIEFEE - 2,318
Net proceeds from rights issue DAt RR 7 BT R R D
of new shares Z P13 RIEF 58 - 204,432
New finance lease FREMEE 9,121 -
New secured bank loan MEERRITER 4,920 -
Repayment of obligation under BERERERE
financial lease (794) -
Repayment of secured BEBERBITER
bank loan (402) -
Net cash generated from MEEBEE A FHE
financing activities 38,981 252,731
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRESEEY
and cash equivalents CRA) /B 5 (72,904) 94,227
Cash and cash equivalents FUNzHEeRREFED
at the beginning of year 104,330 10,103
Cash and cash equivalents FRZRERBREEEY
at the end of year 24 31,426 104,330
Analysis of balances of cash ReRIBITHEBRZERDN
and bank balances
Cash and bank balances Re MBITES 24 31,426 116,830
Less: Fixed deposit B R - (12,500)
Cash and cash equivalents ReNAEFEYD 31,426 104,330

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M E R

31 December 2015 —ZT—HFE+-A=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) is principally engaged in investment in
equity and debt securities in order to achieve medium
to long term capital appreciation.

The Company is a limited liability company continued
into Bermuda as an exempted company under the laws
of Bermuda. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Canon’s court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM
12, Bermuda and its principal place of business is Flat
18, 9/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21 Man Lok
Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

With effect from 23 October 2015, the name of the
Company was changed from Opes Asia Development
Limited to China Internet Investment Finance Holdings
Limited.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$”), which is also the
functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) unless
otherwise indicated. These consolidated financial
statements were approved for issue by the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) on 30 March 2016.

DNAEH
FEEREKESREEERAR (AR
AN ZEBEXBR/RERBRARERES
HElERPHERANEREE -

KRBl —HBRBEEREZNRBERER
BRERERNBIZERAR - ARAZH
B %% % 2 1 3k ACanon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda * &%
EEEMB AT B NBABMRLEIRE
SLERLBEIEISE o

A-T—AFTAZ+=BE AQFAZ
HREEATERDNERARARIEHRF
BEMERESREEBERAA]

ARABENE - LTHABEBHAIZH
BRAR ([BFR]) -

IJIIP

2EHREMBRRARDBZINEEE]
TR -BHEEDNNEEREROANTL
(TR HxEHE Eﬂ%ﬁ?@\”&?ﬁ?—
PEBREAEHEFE ([EFE)R_-F

/\E'E:ﬂ :+ ElTH:/E%lJ%

] D> EF Eﬂ)ﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2015 —ZE—H&+—-HA=+—H

CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time, a number of new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretations (the “new and revised
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”") which are effective
for the Group’s financial period beginning 1 January
2015. A summary of the new and revised HKFRSs are
set out as below:
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2010 - 2012
cycle
Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2011 - 2013
cycle
Defined benefit plans:
Employee contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 19

The adoption of the above revised HKFRSs has no
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments
to the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange relating to the disclosure of financial
information with reference to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial year.
The main impact to the financial statements is on the
presentation and disclosure of certain information in the
financial statements.

BN HERDRRE

REAFE AEBEEERERZEMRER
SEAE ([FESFEAE]) BHRNA
EEE-_T-HF A HHRBZVWEH
RAERZ#] REERTER - B R 2 E
([FHRRBETEBMBREEN])
AR EENBREENZHEZEHT
mr

ERUBELRN F-TFE-T -4
28] BEERAG RS
A1 FEHE

BERUBREEN —T——FE-T-=F
ZEF] BREEMBRSER
ZEENE
BRGRRAE195E REB/MEHE
a4 H BEHK

R IR E B R R A
B BRE L RENEAYE -

I RAMBREE  2EFERAGH
($6228) » ARACERME B FIR
HmERMBERNEEZ EWRRER -4
MBHRERCEIEZERUBRRAETE
Pz 25| M E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M R R E

31 December 2015 —E—HRE+—-A=+—H

2. CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
The Group has not early applied the following relevant
new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 cycle'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative'
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements'

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture?
Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception'

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

S BEREBREE(F)

AEBEYEREEEATIESRMERKRE
Mz BB R RER] BB M S ER

BANBREER 257
BEOENZIR 2663
BAGHENETR 2B
BENBREEAEOR 23]
EANEREEZI0% R
EREEIEY S H]
BAMERSENEI0%

ERMBRERAF 12BN
SRR A ]

ERMBRE RS R BT

“2--§5F-NEEHY
EHBEE RN RE
BEEH

BuBhaxnELE
TRIA
REFEERENALUARLE

LENEEHES IR

REEE: ERFAARL
PisMER

BEAREERE &5

VORIE-RE-A-HRERRBZFE

B4R WA FFIRAER -

2 RIFE-NF-A-HIEERBZFE
IR AR - WAFFIRAER -
¢ REBTEEZAHNERMGRZFEHRE

R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2015 —E—HF+=-HA=+—H

CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs,
which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 introduce specific
guidance in HKFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies
an asset (or disposal group) from held for sale to held
for distribution to owners (or vice versa), or when
held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued. The
amendments apply prospectively.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 provide additional
guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is
continuing involvement in a transferred asset for
the purpose of the disclosures required in relation
to transferred assets and clarify that the offsetting
disclosures (introduced in the amendments to HKFRS 7
Disclosure — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities issued in December 2011 and effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) are not
explicitly required for all interim periods. However, the
disclosures may need to be included in condensed
interim financial statements to comply with HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the high
quality corporate bonds used to estimate the discount
rate for post-employment benefits should be issued in
the same currency as the benefits to be paid. These
amendments would result in the depth of the market
for high quality corporate bonds being assessed
at currency level. The amendments apply from the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented
in the financial statements in which the amendments
are first applied. Any initial adjustment arising should
be recognised in retained earnings at the beginning of
that period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn & M B HRRME

31 December 2015 —ZT—HFE+-A=+—H

CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 34 clarify the requirements
relating to information required by HKAS 34 that
is presented elsewhere within the interim financial
report but outside the interim financial statements.
The amendments require that such information be
incorporated by way of a cross-reference from the
interim financial statements to the other part of the
interim financial report that is available to users on
the same terms and at the same time as the interim
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to HKAS 1 are designed to further
encourage companies to apply professional judgement
in determining what information to disclose in their
financial statements. For example, the amendments
make clear that materiality applies to the whole of
financial statements and that the inclusion of immaterial
information can inhibit the usefulness of financial
disclosures. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that companies should use professional judgement
in determining where and in what order information is
presented in the financial disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to account for
investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
in its separate financial statements:

° At cost; or

° In accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(or HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement for entities that have not yet
adopted HKFRS 9); or

° Using the equity method as described in HKAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

The accounting option must be applied by category of
investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2015 —ZE—H&+—-HA=+—H

CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that when a parent ceases
to be an investment entity, or becomes an investment
entity, it shall account for the change from the date
when the change in status occurred.

In addition to the amendments to HKAS 27, there are
consequential amendments to HKAS 28 to avoid a
potential conflict with HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for
hedge accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS
9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and (b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a “fair value through
other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement
category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

e All recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investment and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entity may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes
in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to
changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change
in the fair value of the financial liability designated
as fair value through profit or loss was presented
in profit or loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model,
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under
HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is
no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.
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2. CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types of hedge accounting.
However, greater flexibility has been introduced
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge
accounting, specifically broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-financial
items that are eligible for hedge accounting.
In addition, the effectiveness test has been
overhauled and replaced with the principle of an
“economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment
of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an
entity’s risk management activities have also been
introduced.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKAS 28:

The requirements on gains and losses resulting
from transactions between an entity and its
associate or joint venture have been amended
to relate only to assets that do not constitute a
business.

A new requirement has been introduced that gains
or losses from downstream transactions involving
assets that constitute a business between an
entity and its associate or joint venture must
be recognised in full in the investor’s financial
statements.

A requirement has been added that an entity
needs to consider whether assets that are sold or
contributed in separate transactions constitute a
business and should be accounted for as a single
transaction.
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2. CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2. B HEXREHREEE)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10:

BB BHRELENFI0RREBSFTER
FoB BT REERABENTHEE
EECBANEEHESTE (F)
BERAMBIREEANFE105 ZEFT -

e An exception from the general requirement of full o Z2HAEFWRZ —MEKZHIINER
gain of loss recognition has been introduced into EMABERBRELELFE105 - A
HKFRS 10 for the loss control of a subsidiary that IHEEBEE N A SR E (LAER
does not contain a business in a transaction with FENR)NZSGF W EBDEXBE 2B
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted NAElZEE -
for using the equity method.

e New guidance has been introduced requiring that o FISIAMIIESIEXRRZERFIHEA
gains or losses resulting from those transactions GRENS QR ERE®RAENE
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only AR EERZBE NN E R E
to the extent of the unrelated investor’ interests in ZHEFAR AL R A E
that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and NEIRE LD E (LR EDE) 2T

losses resulting from the measurement at fair value
of investments retained in any former subsidiary
that has become an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method are

AR EARMRECREAAEBE
A EMGRABRERARBERER
BEJGFHEHBREENHBE QRN
RELRIESRR -

recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in
the new associate or joint venture.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

BBMBRELERNFEI0% FRYBRS
R FE125 R BB G E R F285% 2 1EF]
REER  BAGESAKRZAINMER
BEVBHESERE105% FEEHBRE
ERIF125 R BB G BRI F28% 2 /) &
B EERREERETRENEX
MBS - BRI TRBEBR TRHE
% o B RAE e R ERI R o

The narrdow-scope amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 introduce clarifications to the
requirements when accounting for investment entities.
The amendments also provide relief in particular
circumstances, which will reduce the costs of applying
the standards.
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CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint Operations

The amendments to HKFRS 11 provide guidance on
how to account for acquisition of a joint operation that
constitutes a business as defined in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations. Specifically, the amendments state that
the relevant principles on accounting for business
combinations in HKFRS 3 and other standards (e.g.
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets regarding impairment
testing of a cash generating unit to which goodwill on
acquisition of a joint operation has been allocated)
should be applied. The same requirements should
be applied to the formation of a joint operation if and
only if an existing business is contributed to the joint
operation by one of the parties that participate in the
joint operation.

A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant
information required by HKFRS 3 and other standards
for business combinations.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 apply prospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential
impact of the above new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application but is not yet in a position to state
whether the above new and revised HKFRSs will have a
significant impact on the Group’s results of operations
and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (which include all
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”)
and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure requirements required by the Listing Rules
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO”").
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

The provisions of the new CO (Cap 622) regarding
preparation of accounts and directors’ report and
audits became effective for the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the
disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules
regarding annual accounts have been amended
with reference to the new CO and to streamline with
HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation and disclosure
of information in the consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 have
been changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2014 are presented or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements based on the
new requirements. Information previously required to
be disclosed under the predecessor CO or Listing
Rules but not under the new CO or amended Listing
Rules are not disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments (including derivative financial
instruments) that are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

In addition,

for financial reporting purposes, fair

value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities (including structured entities) controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings
of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual
arrangement; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

3.

EXETBERBE (&)

(a)

mEREE(E)
BalkHEt2aRasS@EE TR
BRARAGEAARIFERES - 1
BRrAzzEKSERBRBERARA
BEARIEZERED  AELEESE
BOFERERE L B MR

RBEE  BEHEBRARZHBERER
EHAE NSREZGFTHEER
KEZEFER -5

FRASEREZRARZNAAEE
ARRIFZEERARE - B W]A
XHERERENGEEFTHEH -

EBaH

W BT ARBEANR - X154 6
FAREBERERAAENE  HEA
SEMBREE MELHRKES
ZRHRANZ BB KA R LAE
BB MBETZRENKER#S
BMEE - WEHAKA—RNEE
R EEHER o

TEERARESRMEBERAR F3 2015 91



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
el ?ﬁiﬁilﬂﬁi

31 December 2015 — =&

3.

—hRFEt+-—HA=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Business combination (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If,
after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’'s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Business combination (Continued)
Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction
by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an entity when the Company is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable at the reporting
date.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence and that is neither
a subsidiary nor an interest in joint ventures.
Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control nor joint control over
those policies.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The results of assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these financial statements
using the equity method of accounting except
when the investment, or a portion thereof, is
classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognizing its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognized only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any excess of
the cost of investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the
profit or loss in the period in which the investment
is acquired.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to
determine whether it is necessary to recognise
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s
investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be
an associate, or when the investment (or a portion
thereof) is classified as held for sale. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of a part interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified
to the profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to accumulated losses
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
When the Group reduces its ownership interests
in associates but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to the
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction
in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to the profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i)  Sales of listed and unlisted equity securities
Proceed from sales of listed equity securities
are recognised on a trade-date basis.
Proceed from sale of unlisted equity security
is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of such ownership is transferred.

(ii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision maker. The chief
operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Board that makes strategic decisions.

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BAEHBEME(£)
POLICIES (Continued)
(9) Employee benefits (Continued) (9) BEEBHN(E)
(iii) Share-based payment transactions (iif) /iv/ﬁﬁ HXH

The Company operates an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction, under
which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Company. The
fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted,
excluding the impact of any non-market
service and performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period). Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected
to vest. The total amount expensed is
recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At
the end of each reporting period, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing vesting conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEAREHTHEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Taxation (h) ﬁlﬁ

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
before income tax as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Taxation (Continued)

Current or deferred tax for the year is recognised
in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of change
prevailing at the dates of the transaction. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise except for:

e exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under
construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest
costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

e exchange differences on transactions entered
into in order to hedge certain foreign currency
risks (see the accounting policies below); and

3.

EXETBERBE (&)

(h)

BIE(E)
FA-HAETEHARED
WEEHEEEEM S RSP ER
BRERETRERAZIEEHEE W%%
AR FER R TR 3 Bl 7 H At 2 8 R a5 3K
BEEREDZTER - WAXBAHZ
st A E L BT IR SR T
ME BRNMBREESTARBAH
ZEFTERN -

EEFVL/ ’

S

Fﬁ%ﬂmw EERVEHRERE
INZERNEEEB N2 B8 (HME)
BT2RHGVER S AP EHES
R PNREHKR WINEHEZE
WIEEYRZ A 2 BREREHMHRE -
NS ER AR BEARNIEEEE
BERAABEECEBNRITEREHN
ﬁ”o%%%#ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%%
HEEEEEBAESNRE

EHERME EBRELDENA
HAWR

\

o HEERRAEERMEREEMM
HMNEE S RME N 28 RS
R ZEFINEBENF EKAE
MR FTAZEBEENRA

o REMETIHER
SHERER(RTXzE
)R

o AR M0
5K

TEERARESREBER AR F3& 2015 101



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M E R

31 December 2015 —E—HRE+—-A=+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

e exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such
asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification except delay is
caused by events or circumstances beyond the
entity’s control and there is sufficient evidence that
the entity remains committed to its plan to sell the
asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
or as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciation.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings . 25 years
Leasehold . 5 years or over the lease
improvement term if less than 5 years
Office furniture and : 5 years
fixtures
Motor vehicle . 3 years
Yacht . 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognized
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset representing a club membership
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than

EXETBERBE (&)

(m) FEMEE (BERD) ZRE

goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than

(n)

goodwill) (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair
value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘available-
for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and
receivables’. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BAEHBEME (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (ny EMIAE)
Effective interest method BERFE%

ERMEERFEES TAMBEHENX
AR HEBERE D ENBWANTTE o
BB E QRN B IRMERR A EHEE B

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)

EBTRBHREFRN (WER) BEH
B HEFREREBA (BEEKE
RAXEE SO cENABRAE
ERANREEZ RHEMAREMEESL
i) BRI ERREFEMF XK -

through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

MEBWATIZE

%I
Bt \BEZZEemEE
PR AR EERER

Interest income is recognised on an effective
interest basis for debt instruments other than those
financial assets classified as at FVTPL.

fg

Financial assets at FVTPL BRALEFABD S 2HEE
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when EeREEREEEIRERRLR
the financial asset is either held for trading or it is BHif A\BRR ZeREESDBERRK
designated as at FVTPL. NAETAESR -

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: TREERTIBERDBERFIEES

WEZEENTIZENAEHR
HE e

e it has been acquired principally for the °
purpose of selling it in the near term; or

REEVNSHARAKEETE
BHr#emTIAEGH—
BB EE R HERNES

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of °
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 19

REERYIFEEFELE P TAT
BEREPRRNITETA -

e it is a derivative that is not designated and °
effective as a hedging instrument.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held
for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented
risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated as available-
for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and
receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or
(c) financial assets at FVTPL.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of available-
for-sale monetary financial assets relating to
interest income calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on available-for-
sale equity investments are recognised in profit
or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of
available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of available-for-sale fair value
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the available-
for-sale fair value reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss (see accounting policies in respect of
impairment of financial assets below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do
not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see accounting policies in
respect of impairment of financial assets below).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Loans and
receivables (including other receivables and
deposits and cash and bank balances) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policies in respect of impairment of
financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables when the recognition of interest would
be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the investment have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity investments, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of the security below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAEHBEME &)
POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) &MIA#E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SEREEZHE (E)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation;
or

e the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods (see the
accounting policy below).
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is
reduced by the impairment loss directly for
all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains
or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost,
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments,
impairment losses previously recognised in profit
or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of available-
for-sale fair value reserve. In respect of available-
for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Company’s own equity instruments.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including secured
bank loan, obligation under a finance lease and
other payables and accruals) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis other than financial liabilities
classified as at FVTPL.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group continues to recognise the asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and
recognises an associated liabilities. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit
or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than
in its entirety, the Group allocates the previous
carrying amount of the financial asset between the
part it continues to recognise, and the part it no
longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair
values of those parts on the date of the transfer.
The difference between the carrying amount
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised
and the sum of the consideration received for the
part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised in
profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income
is allocated between the part that continues to
be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values
of those parts.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Assets held under finance leases are recognised
as assets of the Group at the fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, st the present
value of the minimium lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the consolidated statemnet of financial position as
a finance lease obligation.

Lease payment are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(0)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.

3.

BEXETHBERBE ()

(0)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2015 —ZE—H&+—-HA=+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(q) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises
of cash in hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the Group and Company
statements of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

3.

EXETBERBE (&)

(a)

ReERBEEEEY
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Related party transactions
(a) A person, or closed member of that person’s

famil

(i)

(i)

(iii)

An e

y, is related to the Group if that person:
has control or joint control over, the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group.

ntity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

3.

BEXETHERBE(E)

) BAEALRS

(@) HMEALTFAUTEME  BZE
ATHZ B AT 2 EHRERER
BRE -

(i) HEANEE LS
120 1) 4
(i BAEEBEERFEN 5

RAEERAEBRRAZ
FTEEBAE -

(iii)

%MTEH“#@ CRIXER

HR & B A R

() ZEBEREAEEEBER —£E
ZRERE (AEEARQ 7
OpESNGIDNE S =N
HBEBE)

(i) —ERARS—EBZBEA
AlgeeEtE (HAS—F
BRAEKBEZEEKERRZ
BENAHAERE):

(i) ZEREASEER—F=
FZaEh%:

(iv) " BERAF-HEEZ2E%
TCERF—ERBAE-MHE
A /NC]
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EHECERAREREZA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BASHBEME(£)
POLICIES (Continued)
(t) Related party transactions (Continued) ty BEALXRS(#E)
Close family members of an individual are those EERMALZ AR ERPEERET
family members who may be expected to influence, EERAZEZALTIXRZALRE
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings ZRERE °

with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party W—BX5H BEALZEAFEE
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or REBEEER AZEISERLH
obligations between related parties. BATRS o

o s

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4. HKEKBEEREBERBX
POLICIES

(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) £WMIEDE
2015 2014
s —T -l
HK$000 HK$000
TET FiETT
Financial assets TREE
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AIftHESREE
(note 18) (Hfzt18) 20,484 14,112
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFTAEBRL
through profit or loss (note 20): SREE (Mit20) :
- Held for trading —REEE 154,291 97,386
Loans and receivables BERRkEWRGE (BERS
(including cash and bank RIRITEER)
balances)
- Other receivables and deposits ~ —HERFIBERE] & 282 1,431
— Cash and bank balances - Re RIBITHER
(note 24) (Hfit24) 31,426 116,830
206,483 229,759
Financial liabilities A==
Amortised costs SR
- Other payables and accruals — H b 1 5018 )R
(note 27) fEEtFx% (Kfate7) 9,680 1,581
— Secured bank loan (note 28) — BEIPIRITER 4,518 -
(Htz#28)
- Obligation under a finance —BEMERE (Hit29)
lease (note 29) 9,206 -
23,404 1,581
Note: The above table and the analysis below excluded Wi ERRTIAOMETBESE AR
the respective items classified as held for sale. EHEZHEBEEER -
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity and debts investments, borrowings and
bank balances. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (equity price
risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner,

Equity price risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk
arising from the investment in listed equity
securities. The management manages the
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of listed equity
securities with different risk exposures.

The following sensitivity analysis has been based
on the exposure to listed equity price risks at
the reporting date. If the prices of the respective
listed equity securities had been increased/
decreased by 10%, the Group’s loss for the year
ended 31 December 2015 would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$15,429,000 (2014:
approximately HK$9,739,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value on listed equity securities.

In order to minimize listed equity securities price
risk, management has established an Investment
Committee to consider investment proposals
received from investment manager and/or the
Company’s Investment Officers.

Foreign currency risk

This refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
As at the year end date, the Group was mainly
exposed to the change in exchange rates of RMB.

4.

BHEREEEERBER(#E)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2015 —ZE—H&+—-HA=+—H

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4.
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

MHEREEEERBER(#Z)

BHEREEEBERBK (&)

(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Although the Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise. As at 31
December 2015, the RMB bank balances, USD
bank balances and USD bonds were approximately
RMB5,012,000 (2014: RMB10,000,000),
approximately USD73,000 (2014: approximately
USD80,000) and approximately USD2,633,000
(2014: approximately USD1,820,000) respectively.
The Group also has investment denominated
in AUD with insignificant carrying value after
impairment.

The following sensitivity analysis has been based
on exposure to currency risk at the reporting
date, and the table below illustrates the effect of a
reasonably possible change in the value of RMB on
the Group’s loss before income tax. No sensitivity
analysis in USD/AUD is made as the foreign
exchange exposure on USD/AUD against HK$ is
considered to be minimal because HK$ is linked
with the USD. The AUD denominated investment
has become insignificant after impairment.

SME SR B ()

BEAREE B AT AT INE R IR
ROEHEEBERIERR TRAES
ERFEEHTEANERR R_F
—hAF+_A=+—H ARKIE
B ELRTEHBRETLESF D
45 ANR#5,012,0007T (ZF — P04
# A R #10,000,0007T) ~ 973,000
ERX(ZZT—MF : 480,000% L)
K #92,633,000 7L (ZZ — M : 4
1,820,000% 7T) « NEBE IR A R TT
HEZEREMEBIRERNRER 2
EAELTFES o

THSBED N IREBER KRS B HMHR
HHEERRET M FRHAAR
BEENAEBENA LR E

HAKBERAERABRIFE - A
A TTEETTE - KT R
7T N B AR A3 B R e S L
XL/ RTERBREDMN - LURT
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FEERARESREBER AR F3 2015 121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn & M B HRRME

31 December 2015 —ZT—HFE+-A=+—H

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4. Bi¥EREEBEZREE(£&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

BHEREEEBERBK (&)

SME R ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in loss before
RMB rate income tax

ARMER F‘?Fﬁ?%ﬁﬁl‘féﬂé
tH (TR % 8/ Gid)

% HK$000
FEx
2015 —E-0F
If HK$ weakens against RMB BT HARBEE 10 (598)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB AT AAREAE (10) 598
2014 —T—mE
If HK$ weakens against RMB WAL AREEE 10 (1,250)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB AT AREAE (10) 1,250

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

During the year, the Group has used interest-
bearing borrowings (see notes 28 and 29), mainly
to finance its purchase of fixed assets. Thus, it is
exposed to cash-flow interest rate risk in relation
to the variable-rate bank loan and finance lease.
It is the Group’s policy to maintain its borrowings
at floating rate of interests to minimize the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates in relation to its HKD denominated
borrowings.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk of financial
assets relates primarily to the investment in fixed-
coupon bonds, which are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets. The change in fair value
arising from the changes in market interest rates
will mainly affect the related reserve account
instead of the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn & M B HRRME

31 December 2015 —ZE—H&+—-HA=+—H

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis below has been based on
the exposure to interest rates for the variable-rate
borrowings to a reasonably possible change in
interest rate at the reporting date.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2014:
N/A) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended
31 December 2015 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$68,000 (2014: N/A).

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk the counterparty to
a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.
In order to minimize credit risk, management
has delegated Investment Committee and the
Investment Manager to be responsible for the
monitoring procedures.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the majority of the counterparties are reputable
banks or banks with high credit-rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. For other
investments including financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale
financial assets, the management has closely
monitored their status. The Group also has certain
outstanding balances of convertible bond principal
and coupon interest receivable, which have been
fully impaired in prior year.

4. MBEREBEERERRBE(E)

(b)

BREAREERRREEK(E)

RERERAAEFERR (&)
THGZREDNIIRBEN RS BB
HEFEREZFNERAEBRHOA
EMEEHMET -

&I EF T BHI00EES (=
T—UF - RNER) MATE H A Al &
AETE BAEEREE_ZT—F
FH+_ A=+ HALFEZEEBBER
b /1 h14968,00058 7T (= F — P4 ¢
TEA) °
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EERRESRIAZIZHT RE
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31 December 2015 —E—HRE+—-A=+—H

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associate with its financial liabilities that are settled
by delivery of cash or other financial assets. The
Board has established an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework to meet the Group’s
funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by holding
sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality
to ensure that there are sufficient cash flows to
meet all financial commitments and to capitalise
on opportunities for business expansion. During
the year, the Group has also used bank loan and
finance lease to finance the acquisition of fixed
assets. By monitoring scheduled debt-servicing
payments for the above financial liabilities as
well as cashoutflows due in day-to-day basis, the
Group carefully manages its liquidity requirements.

4. MBEABEERBERERBE(E)

(b)

BHEREEEBERBR (&)

REETEE
nBETRERZEANAEE AR
MREKEMCEREEZTABBE
NEeREERBEEMEIRE
R - EFXECHIAERDESA
REBER UNSAKEES LR
HETEERTE AKEFERAR
HEEEEZRPEE  UWEBRBE
TRk YENESREYBAEARS
FEBMREENES FAR XK
ERERRTERMBEEERNE
TEEZRBE BEEFRLIERME
BEZFEBENRARREAEREE
ZAMRERBZBER  AREERER
ERARPELHR -

Weighted Within -~ Morethan  More than Total
average 1 year 1 year 2 years undiscounted
effective or but less but less cash Carrying
interestrate~ ondemand  than 2 years  than 5 years flows amount
il 352! 1ERF BRE BBF ARRRE
BRAZE EEX  BORE  BORsE  RBEE RERE
31 December 2015 “E-RETZAST-H % HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Tén Tén Thn T Thn
Financial liabilites TRAE
Other payables and AREAFER
accruals (note 27) iR (Hitzr) - 9,680 - - 9,680 9,680
Secured bank loan, repayable  BHEARTER - 25 4518 - - 4518 4,518
on demand (note 28) BRERER (228
Obligation under HARERE
a finance lease (H#29)
(note 29) 35 3,516 3,516 2,638 9,670 9,206
17714 3,516 2,638 23,868 23,404
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

4. MBEABEERERERBE(E)

(b)y MBREBEEEEREE (&)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEE R (E)
Weighted Within -~ More than ~ More than Total
average 1 year 1 year 2 years undiscounted
effective or but less but less cash Carrying
interest rate ondemand  than 2 years  than 5 years flows amount
MEFH 1ER3 BARIF BmE  ANRRS
kS EEL  BORE  BIWSE  RELE KAk
31 December 2014 “E2-ME+-A=1-H % HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL TAL T BT T
Financial liability 2HER
Other payables and AR FERETES
accruals (note 27) (Hite7) - 1,581 - - 1581 1581
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements
(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and input(s) used).

4. MBEABEERBERERBE(E)

() DMREFE

(1)

Fair value as at Fair value as at

31 December

31 December

WE B E N i E 7 A E
@i@fﬁgz AV=]

AEEBNEREER SRS Y
RELAAEHE TREIMF
TREEZAARBEBENEANE
# (R Bl = P62 A 2 i E 5T )
BABE)

Fair value Valuation technique(s)

Financial assets 2015 2014 hierarchy and key input(s)
RZB-HF RIZ-F
TZA=+-B tZA=+-H HERMTR
tREE ZARE ZARE  DAEEBR IERAZE
HK$000 HK$000
TER THT
Financial assets at fair value 154,015 97,005 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
through profit or loss (note a) £ an active market
BARBEFARRZ RERTISATIR.
tREE (Wita) BEARE
Available-for-sale financial
assets (note b)
AHHESREE (Witb)
— Listed debt securities 20,484 14,112 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
- FEBES E— an active market
INER R iE v
BEAE
Assets classified as
held-for-sale (note c)
PERBELEZBE (Mitc)
- Unlisted equity securities 5,900 5,900 Level 2 Agreed contract price
-3 FMRAE S F_H HBEAKHESR
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31 December 20156 —_E—HFE+_-_H=+—H

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 4. Ei#EBREEBEREE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) AREFEE)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that () UEEEER DN EAETLE
are measured at fair value on a recurring B EEZ DA E(E)
basis (Continued)
Fair value as at ~ Fair value as at Valuation Significant Relationship of
31 December 31 December ~ Fairvalue  technique(s) unobservable unobservable
Financial assets 2015 2014 hierarcchy  and key input(s) inputs inputs to fair value  Sensitivity
RZZ-1F RIZ-@E BERENRA
tZA=t+-B tZR=t-H HERTR EEHEN HEANME
THEE ZRRE ZRRE DREER  IEBANE IEHARE ZENER gRE
HK$000 HK$000
TEn T
Financial assets at fair 276 381 Level 3 Market-based Prices used are The higher the If the prices used is 10%
value through profit F=/  approach derived from a prices used, the  higher/lower, while all
or loss (note q) LA multiple of price to ~ higher the fair value. other variables were held
ERLEABR eamings, pricesto  FEZERME - constant, the fair value would
LEREE Key inputs: revenues and price AAEEE o increase by approximately
(Wita) prices of other fo book. HK$28,000 and decrease
similar companies B2 B ThT4 R by approximately
or interest in mRX - BRINE HK$28,000 respectively.
companies HERERY fWEFAER LA/ T8
FEHAAE HEELE - 10%@%% Bk
EHENAA g DAERAAEN
HARER %@28,000/%&/%
ER £)28,000 T °
Notes: et -

a. The amount represents listed equity securities

in Hong Kong (note 20).

b.  The amount represents listed debt securities

in Hong Kong (note 18).

c. The amount represents unlisted equity
securities in L REBERABEEKR

A ("t REE") (note 25).

BHEARA

d.  The amount represents listed equity securities

in Australia (note 20).

a HBHHSBERREALTRAE
% (K17%20) -

b. BHESERREBELMEBRE
# (BI5E18) ©

c. AHEERRIEIREIARAKE

RREHEBRAR ([ x=E
B 2ELETRAZS (K
25) °

d HBHLERRBMNEWMRAE
% (MI7F20) ©
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

BHEREEEERBER(#E)

(c) AREFEE)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that () KAEFEEZEL L EFEC T E
are measured at fair value on a recurring @ﬁgﬂﬁéz RNAE ()
basis (Continued)
There were no transfers between Levels 1to 3 RAFERLEFE UEE—R
in the current year and prior year. EE-HHEAMNEE -
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers REBZBRARSIBRER 2=
into and out of fair value hierarchy levels B BERECEBRREALE
as of the date of the events or change in HAREBERER -
circumstances that caused the transfer.
Fair value hierarchy (i) AAEER
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2015 RZE—RAFR-_T—NF+=
and 2014; BR=+—HBZArBEEHL:
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
—E-If -1 Eof FZR @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL TEL T TER
Financial assets THAE
Financial assets at fair NN F- A
value through profit or loss SHEE 154,015 = 276 154,291
Available-for-sale financial assets AL HESRERE 20,484 - - 20,484
Assets classified as held for sale D EARBEHE 2 EE = 5,900 = 5,900
Total it 174,499 5,900 276 180,675
2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
T F-0 -0 =W b
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL THL TAL TEL
Financial assets tREE
Financial assets at fair BRREFABEL
value through profit or loss tREE 97,005 - 381 97,386
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AIftHESBEE 14,112 - 14,112
Assets classified as held for sale  HEABIEEE /&4 - 5,900 - 5,900
Total Bt 11,117 5,900 381 117,398
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4., Bi¥%ERMREEEEREE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) DREFTE(E)
(iii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) TREEFZRELALBEFEL
measurements of financial assets R -

2015 Financial Derivative

“E-FF assets at component

fair value Unlisted  in convertible

through equity bond
profit or loss securities receivable Total

BRAE el

TABEZ ¥rm  TRRES
tREE eS-2 Ak ) @it

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERn FTER TEn TERr

As at 1 January 2015 R-ZE-RE—F—H 381 - - 381
Gain or losses recognised in: RIFIAR B EE -
- profit or loss -8 (76) - - (76)
- other comprehensive income -Hp2ENE - - - -
Exchange alignment &R (29) - - (29)
As at 31 December 2015 RZE-RE+-A=1+-H 276 - - 276
2014 Financial Derivative
—Z-mF assets at component
fair value Unlisted in convertible
through equity bond
profit or loss securities receivable Total
BAnME et
FABRZ ¥rm  MHRERES
PHEE BRAZES  ZITEHH Eh

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAL TEn AL

As at 1 January 2014 R-E-N¥—F—H 1,044 9,956 396 11,396
Gain or losses recognised in: RIFIAR KR SEE -
— profit or loss -B& (663) (4,056) (394) (5,113)
- other comprehensive income -Ht2EkE - - - -
Transfer to assets classified BREEHNBARKIELEL

as held for sale (note 25) BEMW#H#2) - (5,900) - (5,900)
Exchange alignment ERAE - - 2) )
As at 31 December 2014 RZE-ME+-A=1—H 381 - - 381
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXERERE
Regarding capital risk management, the Group’s REBZEARAREEIEZERREHEL
objectives are to safeguard the ability to continue BEES LAﬁjﬂx%’r‘%j{E#ﬁ&%Eﬁﬁmm
as a going concern in order to provide returns for AT 2Rz WHEBESEERNGEEIR
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to RESHKA - BRRREATFERBTE -

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. The overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BEFSNABRERNER  KEEEEH
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to BRNTFTREZHRESCEHE MBRREEZ
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new Be - BITHRMSKEEEE - LARAMER -

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group mainly HITERNEMAR -8 AEEFTEEH
uses the gearing ratio to monitor its capital structure. ERBELERERTEERNER - W X%
This ratio is calculated as debt divided by total equity. BEBKRUABRLESE BEHIEEER
Debt is calculated as total borrowings (including s DREGAUBERIBRA TR
current and non-current borrowings as shown in the LRERBEE - BEALE %EEFAWWR?WR
consolidated statement of financial position). Total WMEFN I EZBBEIFE-R-_T—RF
capital is calculated as “total equity”, as shown in RZZT—WFE+=HA :-l— HzEAREBE
the consolidated statement of financial position. The (RS (I
gearing ratios as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were
as follows:
2015 2014
—E-AE —ET-EF
HK$000 HK$000
FTAET FHT
Total borrowings BEE@sE 13,724 -
Total equity 4R 232,300 252,751
Gearing ratio ERBFHEE 0.06 N/AT3E A
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(i) Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

6.

RS HE R AT T RECEEZERR

EEAMESMAZARE G BRAR
FoEREAHRENEMEERNEMAE
ZEERBBEZREEFEDHE  H5t Rk
RE - ZFhAREEBREDREBERL
BERABR/ABAIEMCRAREL BRA
RAGEZFMHIARAAR -

ZEHRAARREBERS - 85t
At BRI DRSS RERT A (HIEFTER
EZHM) HEFTHE R ARKEBE (WIEFT
FERHMELRRBE) TIAER -

(a) BABRETEFRER
() Frig#

AEBEBRREENAESH - R
ETEMERBEBRAELERY
B -ARRHHBERZ MLH
B BT EH RSB T 2 FEE -
AEBENREEHEIHEBEL B
ZIEE RTEHHEREER
REBE - MBEBESEHZEKRHE
BYLREETR EEEEE
eHETHEARE B MET
FIEREAEREBEBRTE-
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 6. BERETHERGTITEEZEERE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (&)
(Continued)
(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (a) BEESTTHFRREE(E)
(Continued)

(ii) Usetul lives of property, plant and equipment

(i) Y% BERE 6 A& FH

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s management determines
the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where
useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives.

Fair value of share options

The fair value of share options granted is
measured using Trinomial Model. It is based
on various assumptions on volatility, option
life, dividend yield and annual risk-free
interest rate, excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions, which generally
represent the best estimate of the fair value of
the share options at the date of grant.

Fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The independent qualified professional
valuers use their judgment selecting
appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in active markets.
Valuation techniques commonly used by
market practitioners are applied. The Group’s
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss with carrying amount of approximately
HK$276,000 (2014: approximately
HK$381,000) which were valued by
independent qualified professional valuers,
are valued using market-based approach and
supported, where possible, by observable
market prices.
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A

AEEEREERENE BEX
REEETUEAFHRARME
FIS - IR R IR BECEE
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A A E B B S 0 5T A A (A AT
o OEEEBREMTERS -

(i) BREZ R E

EREBEREZAAEBILEA=
HARRN - RIBEKE - B
FH REXRFEERRMNE
FHZHERBRRAE  ETEEE
FIRMEREBRTNTE  — R
RBERERRE AP EZR
EEfhET -

ZANEFA B EBEES
7
BYAERBEEGHEMEDH
HMmMATEERTHEREZ
SR TREEZSEOMERIN -
FTAZEERTATENEEM
BERBRE ASBEEENA
276,000 L (Z T — MW : 49
381,000 7) 2R A B AR
DZeMEETHBYAERE
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 6. BREEFHERGFT I EEZEEZRR
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (%)
(Continued)
(b) Critical judgement in applying the accounting (b) FEAESTBUREEL = B8 ¥ i
policies
(i) Impairment of available-for-sale financial () ARHEEHEERE
assets
The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 39 to EEFIHLESREERSSH
determine when an available-for-sale financial HRER AEeBeBFEEe
asset is impaired. This determination requires ETEERIE39% 2 65l - BHAE T
significant judgment. In making this judgment, BIEHRBERHE - EERZIEH
the Group evaluates, among other factors, the By REBEG (BEEM
duration and extent to which the fair value of ) —BREZAARBEREK
an investment is less than its cost; and the KEZRBALEE ANEIRE
financial health of and short-term business RAZHBRBEBRAREHEYR
outlook for the investee, including factors Ais BIEERARERNTEZR
such as industry and sector performance, B BB REBERpER
changes in technology and operational and REEREE-
financing cash flows.
(i) Impairment of other receivables (i) E M EW B E

The Group estimates impairment loss for other
receivables resulting from the inability of the
debtors to make the required payments. The
Group bases on the estimation of the aging
of the other receivable balance and debtors
creditworthiness.

SR R (5 A8 ) f H T 8 A
K7 28 2 P SO R
AT« KSR R IR B TR
B8 2 BB RS A G R
fhit o
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised
into business units based on the categories of
investments and has two reportable operating segments
as follows:

Listed investments - Investments in listed equity/debt
securities

Unlisted investments — Investments in unlisted
equity/debt securities

Segment results represent the results for the year in
each business segment. This is the measure reported to
the Group’s management for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Segment results exclude other income such as bank
interest income and unallocated corporate expenses
such as administrative expenses, other operating
expenses and finance costs.

In prior year, a geographic perspective was also
used, mainly basing on the locations of the investee
companies in which the majority of their revenues were
generated. The Group’s turnover and segment result
by geographical areas are not presented for the year
ended 31 December 2015 as significant transactions
are mainly based in Hong Kong.

As management considers the Company’s nature
of business is investment holding, there was no
information regarding major customers as determined
by the Company and no segment turnover is presented.
Comparative figures in prior year have been re-
presented to conform to the current year’s presentation.

2 BER
REREMTE AR AREREAAE
HEB LR A TRETLRELH T

EHRE - RENLTERA EBES

FLETRE — RERFLTREEBE
7

DHEBHEESEBI N ZFERE 1T
RERDENFEOBERAAEEEE
BERZHE DHEETBRERTMNE
WAEEMBANRITRAS - Htge
A EBEXRAERDEARIMAX

LEE EANEAR (EEEXNEER
EATZME wHAEHEAR EBK
RIFIH) HH  BE-F—RE+=A
SH-RLFEAEELE2IRBEE
HEH Y EEERHBEE AAEENY
EXHRIBENES -

HRNEEERRARTANEBHLEERRE
Ei WS EERARRMEEIERFP
MEFR ABEEZRNFEXEE -CEF
2ILFEZHBHRFURGAFEZR
ST e
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7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

7. DEER(E)

Listed Unlisted
investments investments Total
rHEE FLEHERE et
2015 —E-AF HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FExT FHExT
Segment results DEEE (21,117) - (21,117)
Bank interest income RITH BUA 325
Unallocated other income RO E MU A 440
Share of results of an JE(REE S N B EE
associate 257
Depreciation e (3,610)
Unallocated expenses RAOBFAZ (24,088)
Finance costs BhE AR (193)
Loss for the year FEEE (47,986)
Segment assets PHEE 174,774 15,713 190,487
Unallocated assets* ROBLEE" 65,217
Total assets EERE 255,704
Segment liability DEHER - 5,900 5,900
Unallocated liabilities AOEEBE 17,504
Total liabilities BEREE 23,404
Capital expenditures EXEX - - -
Unallocated capital RAOBLERFH T
expenditures™™ 17,478
Total capital expenditures CENGEE 17,478
Other segment information HitpHER
Impairment loss on A EeRmEEY
available-for-sale BB E B
financial assets (220) - (220)

Unallocated assets mainly included cash and bank

balances of approximately HK$31,426,000, property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$31,851,000
and intangible asset of HK$120,000.

*k

Unallocated capital expenditures consisted of cost

additions to property, plant and equipment.

* APREETERRASRBILEHD
31,426,000 7L W% BERERZED
31,851,000/ 7T LA R & i & EE 120,000/ 7T ©

R REARATEDE  BERRER
ERTAEMK
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Listed Unlisted
investments investments Tota
FAEE FELETIRE HBET
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
2014 —E-NF FET FHET FET
Segment results DEEE (34,849) (24,992) (59,841)
Bank interest income WITHEHA 176
Unallocated other income Ao E MU A 2,695
Depreciation e (1,675)
Unallocated expenses KAOBEMAX (27,123)
Income tax expenses TS (4)
Loss for the year FEEE (85,772)
Segment assets PHEE 111,666 75,797 187,463
Unallocated assets* RKOBLEE 66,869
Total assets BEME 254,332
Segment liability SWEE - - -
Unallocated liability Kol EE 1,581
Total liability BELE 1,581
Capital expenditures BEXREX - - -
Unallocated capital KRBl E AN 2
expenditures™® 18,906
Total capital expenditures BARMY B 18,906
Other segment information HitpHEHR
Impairment loss on other Hith B 2 FEBE
receivables - (19,052) (19,052)
Loss on disposal of assets HEDERBIELE
classified as held for sale ZEENBRE - (7,200) (7,200)
Impairment loss on AR EeRERE
available-for-sale financial ZBEEE
assets - (2,920) (2,920)
Total BEt (29,172)

Unallocated assets mainly included cash and bank
balances of HK$47,026,000, property, plant and
equipment of HK$17,983,000 and intangible asset of
HK$120,000.

**  Unallocated capital expenditures consisted of cost
additions to property, plant and equipment.

**

APBREETEZERHEB S RETESR
47,026,000 70 - ME - BE KX E
17,983,000/ 7T LA & S & EE 120,000 7T ©

APEEARHNE BFERKEZR
ERMARK
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8. TURNOVER 8. I
Proceeds from sales of equity securities recognised FANBRZ DEREABLFMERENT :

during the year are as follows:

2015 2014

—E-RF —E—mF

HK$000 HK$000

FET FET

Sales of listed equity securities HE ERAES 92,457 47,410
Sale of unlisted equity security REIELEMRAES - 2,800
92,457 50,210

9. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUE 9. BRARB AEZCSREEZERF

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 6
2015 2014
—2-AF —T-IF
HK$000 HK$000
FiExT FAET
Net realised gain/(loss) on ETRABLEZEEE
listed equity securities (note) Wi,/ (E18) F8 (M) 2,169 (2,359)
Net unrealised fair value loss on LRAR R ZRER
listed equity securities N EEEFEE (24,334) (32,650)
(22,165) (35,000)
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Wi 82T —AFER_ZT—NOF+=A
net realised gain/(loss) on listed equity securities were =+—RILEFE ETRABHFZEER
calculated based on the turnover and the carrying Wi,/ (B1B) FENREBEEEURE
amount of financial assets at fair value through profit or BRZBEARNBEFAEGEZEMEER
loss recognised. HEEFE -
10. OTHER INCOME 10. HEM A
2015 2014
—E-RF —ETNEF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FAT
Bank interest income HRITFE WA 325 176
Reversal of impairment loss provision BRI EREEEE 440 2,640
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR z W - 1,364
765 4,180
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11.

12.

FINANCE COSTS

1. BERK

2015 2014

—E-RF —T-F

HK$000 HK$000

FET FAET

Interests on a secured bank loan BEBIRITEFZHE 108 -
Interests on a finance lease BMEREZFE 85 -
193 -

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s loss before income tax is

charging/(crediting):

12. BRETGHATERE

arrived after

FIBEMSL

AEERAEHRABELSHE, GIA)T

2015 2014
—E-RF —TEF
HK$000 HK$000
FTHERT F&T

Auditors’ remuneration ZEEE & 611 351
Depreciation nE 3,610 1,675
Minimum lease payments under ERHNBETZ

operating leases: RIEBE

- property rental . /E Yitkq - 2,878

Net unrealised fair value loss BAREFTAERZZ

on financial assets TRMEEIARER

at fair value through profit or loss NREEEFEE 24,334 32,650
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB ARz W - (1,364)
Share of results of an associate FEIREG & AR EE (257) -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHEESREEL

financial assets BEEE 220 2,920
Impairment loss on other receivables HAb W FIE 2 BEBE - 19,052
Employee benefit expenses excluded EERANMAXZ

share-based payments (TBRERMDR) 13,794 8,685
Share-based payments [SuENEN 1,185 2,242
Custody services fees (note) AERBE (HiE) 197 136
Investment management fees (note) REEERE (Mit) 524 1,505
Exchange loss i 5 518 123 487

Note: They were de-minimis continuing connected

transactions of the Company under Rule 14A.73(1) of

the Listing Rules.
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 13. EERBAMEX
2015 2014
—E-hF —ET—mF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET
Directors’ remuneration EEME
- fees —HE 1,246 1,100
— salaries, allowances and bonus —¥H& - RBI ML 1,970 1,096
- mandatory provident fund —BH M AESER
contributions 27 22
- share-based payments — MK 307 551
3,550 2,769
Chief executive officer’s THAZNS
remuneration
— salaries, allowances and bonus — 5% R RIELA 2,365 725
- mandatory provident fund —BEIEAESHK
contributions 18 9
- share-based payments — M 348 -
2,731 734
Staff remuneration EEMSE
— salaries, allowances and bonus — e B RIELA 7,937 5,527
— mandatory provident fund —BEIEAESHK
contributions 231 206
- share-based payments o SENE S 530 846
8,698 6,579
14,979 10,082
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation. The remuneration of each of the
Directors And Chief Executive Officer of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out below:

13. EEBARAZ (&)

EE2FEME NBELMALY - BHER
71651 5383(1)(a) * (b) * () R(NEN KA
Al (WEESHEER) RO FoBHE -
ARARSEERTHREREZE_Z—1F
F+ZA=t—BLEEFEZHMEEHIIOT :

Employee’s
mandatory
Salaries, provident
Name of Directors and allowances fund Share-based
Chief Executive Officer Fees and bonus  contributions payments Total
e EEBHN
ESRTHBRANRS we BEREL AEEHN BRA3 15 @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TER FER TET TER TER
Chairman and Non-executive ~ ZE#HHTEE
Director
Lam Man Chan (a) M &(a) 760 650 - - 1,410
Chief Executive Officer T
Yeung Cheuk Kwong (b) BEXb) - 2,365 18 348 2,731
Executive Director HITEZE
Lee Kwok Leung (c) FEZ(C) - 720 27 223 970
Independent Non-executive ~ BUH#H7TEE
Directors
Ng Chi Yeung Simon REH 162 200 - 28 390
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy ERE 162 200 - 28 390
Florence Ng REH 162 200 - 28 390
1,246 4,335 45 655 6,281
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 13. EEEAEX (&)
The remuneration of each of the Directors and Chief HE_Z-—NF+_A=+—HIFE
Executive Officer of the Company for the year ended 31 ARAISEZRITHEH MM T :

December 2014 is set out below:

Employee’s
mandatory
Salaries, provident
Name of Directors and allowances fund Share-based
Chief Executive Officer Fees and bonus  contributions payments Total
& EEWHM
EERTREHMNE He 2B RIEA INEEAS D UARES EH)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET TEL FEL FET FET
Chairman and Non-executive ~ TE#FHTEZE
Director
Lam Man Chan (a) M (a) 461 - - 72 533
Chief Executive Officer TR
Yeung Cheuk Kwong (b) BEXb) - 725 9 - 734
Executive Directors HITEE
Lee Kwok Leung (c) ZE#(c) - 308 11 - 319
Yang Yongdong () BKE() - 553 8 - 561
Zhou Tao David (e) () - 130 3 - 133
Choi Wai King (f) BEI() - 105 - - 105
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Choi Chiu Ming, Jimmy (g) ZR#HQ) 70 - - 479 549
Independent Non-executive BV HHTEE
Directors
Ng Chi Yeung Simon REH 162 - - - 162
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy ERE 162 - - - 162
Florence Ng REF 162 - - - 162
Ku Siu Fun Alex (h) i kEln) 83 - - - 83
1,100 1,821 31 551 3,503
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

Notes:

(h)

Appointed on 11 February 2014.

Appointed on 4 July 2014.

Appointed on 8 May 2014.

Resigned as executive director and chief executive
officer on 4 July 2014.

Resigned on 28 February 2014.

Appointed on 13 February 2014 and resigned on 1 May
2014.

Resigned on 6 May 2014.

Resigned on 7 May 2014.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2014: Nil).

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to
the directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office during the year (2014: Nil).
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(h)
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—HFERA—HEHE-
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 13.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include two (2014:
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The emoluments payable to
the remaining three (2014: three) individuals during the
year are as follows:

BERAMMX (&)

hEREH AL
FARKELEESFALBERA(ZF
—OF MBEF WEZMEERLEX
Fr25niTh Rk - FRENGB =5 (=
T-mF =ZR)EMNALTZHMEWT

2015 2014

—ZE—-TE —EZ—UF

HK$000 HK$000

TERT FHET

Salaries, allowances and bonus e RBERIEA 4,115 2,248
Mandatory provident fund contributions 38|14 N FE € 3% 46 43
Share-based payments ErRNEN 474 845
4,635 3,136

The emoluments of the above three (2014: three)
highest paid employees fell with the following bands:

=2 (Z2E—NE: =ZR2)RaFHESE
ZHeBRATEE

Number of employees

BEAHR
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT—UF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,008 T &= 1 1
2,000,000/ 7T
3 3

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group
to the five highest paid employees as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2014: Nil). There
was no arrangement under which the five highest paid
employees waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2014: Nil).

FA AEBEYERNIEESHEE XM
HENEAME  ERRIIBMAKREE
HRMAR 2 R AREBAE (T —HF:
) -FR UERIABZRSHEERER
RERZEEAMSELLHE(ZT—MmEF
&) -
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14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

14. PGB

2015 2014
—F-AfF —T-mEF
HK$000 HK$000
FTHET FHET

Current income tax BIEA PR A5 75
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBNEH = -
- the PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B REMEH = 4
- 4

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% of
the estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

No Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided as there is no
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: Nil).

No PRC Enterprise Income Tax is provided as there is
no estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: approximately HK$4,000).

The tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to loss
before income tax as follows:

ERFBHIEBE-_T-—RER_-Z
—NE+ A=+ —BILEFEZEER
Bg A 216.5%=1 5 -

HE-_Z—RAFER_Z-—WNF+ =
Z+—BAULFEE PECEMBEHR MG
ETHERT R A 2 25%FH & ©

ARBE_Z-—RAF+_A=+—BLLHF
JE 3 8 {5 ERR TR A - B E B A
BREELEE (T —0F &) -

ARBE-_T—AF+-A=1t—HLF
AL ETERDOEA - RAEH P E D
XENRELEE (CT—HF : £4,000
BT e

AEERBERASERAEHRMNERZEEK
mr

2015 2014
—E-REF —T-OmF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss before income tax B FTS R R E R (47,986) (85,768)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable LB AEEER
to the tax jurisdiction concerned IREFE 2 WHIE (7,918) (14,181)
Tax effect of income not HBBME T ARBBA
taxable for tax purposes ZHBETE (476) (1,268)
Tax effect of expenses not BB E A HkREX
deductible for tax purposes ZMIBRE 4,222 11,718
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  KERREBEZHEZE 5,723 4,080
Tax effect of taxable temporary RERERNE R ZRE
difference not recognised ZMIEZE (1,551) (345)
Tax expenses for the year REEHIBERZ = 4
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15. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 15.
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

ARAFEBEAREERER

ARBHEAANCBEEREAREFTERLZ
AETDER T 8UE -

2015 2014
—E-RF —T—F
Loss attributable to the RRBEEA HK$000 HK$000
owners of the Company EihEE FET FEIT
Loss for the purpose of basic and AR EERERK
diluted loss per share EEBiE s EE (47,986) (85,772)
2015 2014
—E-RE —T—mF
Number of shares gl 4= ’000 ’000
T T
Weighted average number of HEERERNEBEZ
ordinary shares for the TE AR AN T 1 B
purpose of basic loss per share 285,113 132,599
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary HEBTLTRR I ZE
shares:
Share option issued by the NP AT BB AR
Company = -
Weighted average number of HEEREEEE.
ordinary shares for the purpose T IR I T 19 2K
of diluted loss per share 285,113 132,599
Basic and diluted loss FREARREEEE GBI
per share (HK cents) (16.83) (64.69)

As at 31 December 2015, the outstanding share options
of the Company were 8,060,000 (31 December 2014:
Nil) and their effect was anti-dilutive.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the effects of
rights issue and share consolidation were taken up on
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic loss per share.

WZE—RF+-_A=+—HB KRQRFAHE
8,060,000 (—ZE—MW&E+-_/F=+—8:
M) MAITERBRE A RBEWRE -

BE-T-mE+=A=+-BILFE.

HEEBEDEHZZEEFARRGESR
PR R R 2 L g8 -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16.

Leasehold
Buildings improvement

BEM=

g

£

HK$000 HK$000

M BERSZE
Office
furniture Motor
and fixtures vehicle Yacht Total
ROEEM
rEEEE AE picd i @5t

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

FEL FEL FEL TEL FEL FHL
Cost A
As at 1 January 2014 RZZE-NF-HF—H - 3,503 780 1,133 - 5,416
Additions NE 13,257 1,589 361 3,699 - 18,906
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBLF - (100) (673) (1,133) - (1,906)
Written off HsH - (3,509) - - - (3,509)
As at 31 December 2014 RZE—MF
and 1 January 2015 +ZA=+—H
&:2 TF
—R- 13,257 1,483 468 3,699 - 18,907
Additions NE - 193 29 872 16,384 17,478
As at 31 December 2015 R-E-—T1%F
+ZA=1+—H 13,257 1,676 497 4,571 16,384 36,385
Accumulated depreciation ZHERAE
and impairment
As at 1 January 2014 RZE-MF—-F—H - 1,841 345 368 - 2,554
Charge for the year FAENG 221 644 92 718 - 1,675
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF - - (357) (511) - (868)
Written off W - (2,437) - - - (2,437)
As at 31 December 2014 RZE-ME
and 1 January 2015 +-A=+-H
R-Z-TF
—H—H 221 48 80 575 - 924
Charge for the year FNEMR 530 322 97 842 1,819 3,610
As at 31 December 2015 R-E—1%F
+ZA=1-H 751 370 177 1,417 1,819 4,534
Carrying amount; REE:
As at 31 December 2015 RZE-1F
+ZA=+-H 12,506 1,306 320 3,154 14,565 31,851
As at 31 December 2014 RZE—OF
+ZR=+-H 13,036 1,435 388 3,124 - 17,983
As at 31 December 2015, the office premises with a RZE-—AF+_A=+—HA KEAE
carrying amount of approximately HK$12,506,000 (31 49 /512,506,0008 L (ZE—WWF+ A

December 2014: HK$13,036,000) was pledged for an
instalment loan.

The building is medium-term lease and located in Hong
Kong.

At the end of the reporting period, the net book value
of yacht held under finance lease of the Group was
approximately HK$14,276,000.

=+—H :13,036,000/& 7T) Z B AEWE
ER—EoHERMEA -

HZRFUNREBLATHEERE -

RBEEHER AEERERERESFZ
R 2 BR R (E 40 /514,276,000 7T °
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSET 17 BREE
Club
membership
RETEsE
HK$000
FET
Cost AR
As at 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, \_g mE—H—H -
1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 —NE+=ZA=+—H"
—HF-H-RARk
—£¢+:HE+—H 120
Accumulated impairment ZiHRE
As at 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, n-ZZ—HmHFE—HA—AH -
1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 —ZE-MFE+=ZA=1+—H"
—T-RF-HA-BK
—hE+-A=+—H -
Carrying amount: BREE
As at 31 December 2015 R-ZE—HF+=-A=+—H 120
As at 31 December 2014 RZZE-—NF+-_A=+—H 120
The club membership is stated at cost less 1Eﬂ“BA#?;zﬁ5Z$¢Dﬁ$%uﬂj@@ﬁuﬁ% ¥iN
accumulated impairment. The directors of the Company NAEERA BHRETUEDESHESNE
considered no impairment loss recognised as the RAEE W EERRERSSE -
recoverable amount is greater than its carrying amount.
18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. AHHEEHERE
2015 2014
—F-1F —T-mE
HK$000 HK$000
FTERT FHET
Unlisted equity securities FELTHRAFE
- the PRC — M - 5,900
Listed debt securities FTE%KES
- Hong Kong — &8 20,484 14,112
Transfer unlisted equity securities HSIE LR ABESFEE
to assets classified as held DEABELE
for sale (note 25) ZEE(Hitos) - (5,900)
20,484 14,112
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19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. RBE R T 2 ER

2015 2014

—E-RF —T—mF

HK$000 HK$000

FAET FET

Unlisted equity shares, at cost FEETRRRD - R 9,556 -
Share of post-acquisition profits and JE A5 W B 1803 1) J

other comprehensive income Huzmmbas 257 -

9,813 -

On 15 June 2015, the Group entered into a sale and RZZE—RFAA+THA AEEHHE-F

purchase agreement (the “First agreement”) with an BYE=FsIv—MmEEHR=zZ ([B8HH

independent third party to acquire 10% equity interest
in Superb Kingdom Limited (“Superb Kingdom”), which
is mainly engaged in trading of LED lighting products,
at a consideration of HK$4,000,000. Pursuant to First
agreement, the vendor has provided guaranteed annual
profit to the Group for the financial years ended/ending
31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017. The guaranteed annual
returns for the financial years ended/ending 31 March
2015, 2016 and 2017 are HK$200,000, HK$300,000 and
HK$500,000 respectively.

On 29 September 2015, the Group entered into
another sale and purchase agreement (the “Second
agreement”) with an independent third party to acquire
additional 20% of the equity interest of Superb Kingdom
for a consideration of HK$8,000,000. Same as First
agreement, the vendor has provided guaranteed annual
profit to the Group for the financial years ended/ending
31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017. The guaranteed annual
returns for the financial years ended/ending 31 March
2015, 2016 and 2017 are HK$400,000, HK$600,000 and
HK$1,000,000 respectively. Taking into the effect of the
above guaranteed annual profits of First and Second
agreements, the Group paid HK$5,000,000 to acquire
the additional 20% of the equity interest of Superb
Kingdom.

1) LA4,000,0008 2 RBEREBRE A
Bar ([BE]) Wi10wkAEzR BEE
THEIEDRAERES - BEEHOHZE -
EHAALSEREEE-_ZS—HF =2
—ANERZZE—tFZA=+—HLEHRK
FEZEERIRE -BE-_T—AF -
—E-RERZE—+F=ZA=+—HI
B IR B 2 RFBEEE R 5 5 5200,0005%5
JT * 300,0007%8 7T % 500,000/ 7T °

RZE—RFNLA-t+HhB ~AEFHE—
EBUE=FAIUS—HEEHRZ([F=
D& ]) - LA8,000,000/% 7T 2 X 1B U i A
B HEEIN0% M AR 2 o Eﬁiéﬁﬁ%uﬁaﬂ
EFRMASERBEEZE-_ZT—HF: =
—/—\ﬁ&:?—tiiﬁiJr—Ele&
FEZEERFREZ -BE-_T—AF -
TE-RERZE—+F=ZA=+—HIt
FBFE 2 REFEFERFS B A400,000%
7T * 600,000 7T % 1,000,000/ 7T ° 5t & £
MEnHErkE_ORELEREE ST
FE  KNEEP X 145,000,000 7T LA HK
BIRA 2 BEIN20% R A °
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19.

—hRFt+-—HA=+—H~

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The Group has not recognised the total contingent
consideration of HK$900,000 and HK$1,500,000
for the financial years ending 31 March 2016 and
2017 respectively as the directors of the Company
assessed that there were no contingent consideration
of HK$900,000 and HK$1,500,000 as at 31 December
2015.

The Group owns 30%, in total, equity interest in Superb
Kingdom and it was accounted for as an associate in
the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at 31 December 2015. Interest in an associate
is accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which it becomes an associate. The Group has
recognised interest in an associate of HK$9,556,000,
which includes goodwill of approximately HK$5,169,000.

Details of the interest in an associate at 31 December
2015 are as follows:

REE QR 2R (&)

AEBVEREREE-_TE - FR_F
—+FEZRA=ZF+—HLEUHBRFEES B A
900,000 7t % 1,500,000/ T 2 sk X X &
BE O AARBEARGEZEZHTN-F
—RF+=A=+—HI 900,000/ T &

1,500,000/ 7T 2 S AR AE ©

\I

AEBREEBE A HI0%E AR I

Fﬁﬁl@ —F-AF+-A=t—H
ZEAMBRABRPHEEFHE QT
AR -RBERRZEEAERABER

aE
Bt & N a) 2 #259,556,000 It

AN - AREEERR
EheR

B LA a1

2 495,169,0007 7T, ©

w=

—HF+ZA=+—H REERQ

Al MBI

Proportion of Proportion
ownership of voting Financial
Name of Place of Form of Class of interest held rights held  Principal year
associate incorporation legal entity shares held by the Group by the Group  activities end
rEE
FsaR REEfE BHEE
BENTER MR EREEFS  ARERGOERN Rl RREZLH  FEXER %A
Superb Kingdom  Hong Kong Limited liability ~ Ordinary 30% 30%  Sale of LED 31 March
(note) lighting
products
BE (Hit) BE AREME EBR HELED =
RAED =t-H
Note: Wi -
The Group holds 30% equity interest in Superb Kingdom. The AREBZAEBE Z30%RA#Z - KAREER

directors of the Company consider that the Group does have
significant influence over Superb Kingdom and classify it as
an associate of the Group.

Summarised financial information of an associate
Summarised financial information of the associate,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed below:

REEEHBEABAYENTR 20 BALE
Elld: NI

—BBELRZMBERNRE

TXEEZBERRZHMBER (B

BR

e

RZEMEZRELARL BRGAMB

WRAZFREEHR)
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. REEERNB 2R (£)

Superb Kingdom BE

As at

31 December 2015

R=-ZE—HF

+=ZA=+-—H

HK$000

FET

Current assets MENEE 8,013

Non-current assets ERBEE 259

Current liabilities RBEE (3,794)

Non-current liabilities FRBaE -

For the period from
1 January 2015 to
31 December 2015

—ZE—-h%—-A-—H
E_E-HEF
+TZB=+—HHH
HK$000
FET
Revenue iy =
Pre-acquisition W B A1 12,404
Post-acquisition W HE 18 5,210
17,614
Profit for the year and total FERFR
comprehensive income FEXHWBRAEHE
for the year
Pre-acquisition W B A1 1,280
Post-acquisition W ig 1% 856
2,136
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19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

19. REEENR s (&)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information to MEERNBERASMBERRIBERZE
the carrying amount of the associate recognised in the ENRREELHE:

consolidated financial statements:

2015
—E-HF
HK$000
FiER
Net assets of Superb Kingdom on AR B
acquisition date L EEFE 14,622
Proportion of the Group’s REBEBRBE 2
ownership interest in A R LAl
Superb Kingdom 4,387
Goodwill BE 5,169
Share of post-acquisition profit JE A5 U B 12 8 1) K2
and other comprehensive HizmEls
income, net of dividends ke ke
received 257
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REERBE 2 ER
Superb Kingdom as at 31 December

R+-—A=+—HZEmE 9,813
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

20. BARERFABREZERMEE

2015 2014
—E-I0fF —F
HK$000 HK$000
FTiEx FET

Listed equity securities, at fair value LHRAZES  EARE
- Hong Kong —&5% 154,015 97,005
~ Australia — BN 276 381
154,291 97,386
Less: Non-current portion B FERENER D - -
Current portion BB 154,291 97,386

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recorded in “net unrealised fair
value change on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

The fair values of equity securities listed in Hong Kong
are determined based on their current bid prices in
active markets.

For equity security listed in Australia, the fair value is
determined based on fair value measurement carried
out by independent professional valuers engaged by
the Group.

21. DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENT

BAREFABREZEREEAAEED
REABRBERZIBAAEHABE ISR
EERERAAEEEFE LK -

BELMRRZBRAFEZRAABIIRER
MERITEREET

REMNETRAZRABSZME  EOA
ﬁﬂ@ﬁ$%.§ﬁ?2ﬁi§}%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ

TZAREFEET -

21. WEKRE €

2015 2014
—E-AfF —F
HK$000 HK$000
FaET FET
Deposit for acquisition of WHELTRARRE T
investment in &N 2 A 2= AR 7%
B 2 i 2= AR 75 BRAE
BRAR(CEMEM") (note) (TEMEM]) (H:E) 3,000 3,000
Less: Provision for impairment loss B R EBERE (8,000) (3,000)
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21.

DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENT

(Continued)
Note:

As at 31 December 2007, the Group paid a deposit of
HK$3,000,000 to an independent third party (the “Vendor”) for
the purchase of 20% equity interests in an unlisted company,
JE M B (the “Acquisition”). To complete the Acquisition, the
Vendor was required to complete preliminary works within a
prescribed time.

Since the Vendor failed to complete the preliminary works
within the prescribed time, the Group decided to terminate
the Acquisition and requested for the refund of the deposit
together with an interest calculated at HSBC'’s best lending
rate (note 23). The Group received no reply from the Vendor
and was unable to reach the Vendor after taking legal actions
against the Vendor for his default in repayment. As a result, the
directors of the Company considered to recognise impairment
loss of HK$3,000,000 in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2009.

As at 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company
reviewed the impairment loss made and considered that there
is no reversal of the impairment loss during the year.

21.

WEERER (&)

R-BELF+-_A=+—H AEEIN—%
3,000,000 THT T —EBUE=F(EH])
DA B — P 3E £ T2 )M 2 K0 20% A% A 4 25
(WESE]) - B KESEE SHAREE
BF PR 179 52 AR AT HB T4 o

MRNE T RERERIRRATKABTIE  KE
BORERIFWESEE  YERROFRERRE
SRITREBZERNEGFEZME (MFE23) -
AEBEYEKHNESOE ML ETERFIE—
EFRERBERTHRAGCRE T MG -
Hit ARREERARBE_TTNF T
A=t - RALFEZGABRGRERRERE
3,000,000/ 7T °

RZB-AF+ZA=+—H ARAEFER
A AR L 27 I 1 48 0 7R A% 6 A0 48 O 1 A 48 1
3] o
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22. INVESTMENTS

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter
21.12 of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list
of all investments with a value greater than five per
cent of the Group’s gross assets and at least the ten
largest investments as at 31 December 2015 and 2014
respectively as follows:

As at 31 December 2015

22.

RE
BIEEMRAE2112EFEIABRT A&
ERER T —hFAR_T—NFE+=A
—+t—HFAERBArSEEELBEREN Z
EZHREBEURBDTEERRECEED
Bl

RZE-HEF+ZA=+—8H

Net assets
attributable Dividend/
Name of equity/debt Interest to the Invested Carrying interest
securities Nature of business held (%) Company amount amount received
e ARAER 2l
RE/BRESER EBNE B  EERE REH BAE RE/FE
(%) HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FEL FEL FEL TEL
Listed equity securities FITRTES
Jete Holdings Limited note a 2.86 1,255 26,200 36,000 -
(“Jete Hold\ngs ) Mita
BRERERAR
([Bae R )
HK Electric Investments note b 0.03 15,131 14,394 17,732 708
and HK Electric Mizth
Investments Limited
(*HK Electric”)
%XEﬁ?éﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁ
REBRAR
U%ﬁ%ﬁh
China Financial Leasing note ¢ 4.20 1,678 19,574 15,840 -
Group Limited MizEc
(“China Financial Leasing")
rEeREEREBRAT
(ME2REE])
KSL Holdings Limited note d 1.19 1,306 44,011 14,089 -
(*KSL Holdings") fiztd
Future Bright Mining note e 1.36 1,545 14,567 13,728 -
Holdings Limited fiste

(*Future Bright Mining")
BEBEEERERAR
=1 )
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22. INVESTMENTS (Continued) 22. ®RE (&)
As at 31 December 2015 (Continued) R=-ZB-HE+=ZA=+-—-H(£)

Net assets
attributable Dividend/
Name of equity/debt Interest to the Invested Carrying interest
securities Nature of business held (%) Company amount amount received
FisE  AOAER 2l
RE/BEES2R EBNHE s  EERE REH REE RE/FS
(%) HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR TR THT
HSBC note f 0.00 12,491 12,072 9,888 388
Holdings plc i
(*HSBC")
EERRARAA
(FE#])
Newtree Group Holdings note g 0.37 1,951 9,887 8,514 -
Limited (“Newtree Group”) Mty
RNEBERERAE
(IRNI&E])
Tencent Holdings Limited note h 0.00 619 4,840 6,096 14
(“Tencent Holdings") fizEh
BAZRERLA
(TheaR R )
Unlisted equity securities FLTRAES
Superb Kingdom note i 30.00 880 9,556 9,813 -
BE ik
Listed debt securities LTEEER
China Overseas Grand note j N/A N/A 6,438 6,375 279
Oceans Finance Il M TEH TEH
(Cayman) Limited
(“China Overseas Grand
Oceans Finance”)
hEENEERBI(RE)
BRATE
(ThERMNE TR D)
161,539 138,075 1,389
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22. INVESTMENTS (Continued) 22. ®E (&)
R-Z-mE+=A=+-9

As at 31 December 2014

Net assets
attributable Dividend/
Name of equity/debt Interest to the Invested Carrying interest
securities Nature of business held (%) Company amount amount received
FisE  AOAER 2l
BE/EBES 2R £BNUE s  EERE REH REE RE/FS
(%) HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR TR THT
Listed equity securities LRAES
Glory Flame Holdings Limited Provision of concrete demolition 2.21 1,568 37,945 28,770 -
HRERBEBR A service in Hong Kong as a
subcontractor
EEBUD BASNREERL
FERE
JC Group Holdings Limited Operation and management of 4.00 3,305 38,995 24,000 -
restaurants and cake shops
in Hong Kong
REBEEREREERME
China Mobile Limited Provision of mobile 0.00 2,626 4932 4525 -
HEBE AR AR telecommunication and
related services in Mainland
China and in Hong Kong
R B A R BRG]
BERENEERE
Hong Kong Exchange Own and operate the only stock 0.00 549 5,244 5,151 -
and Clearing Limited exchange and a futures exchange
BERGREEMBR AT in Hong Kong and their related

clearing house
BAERGERAE——HEEFRHFR
HERHMUARRE BBLEER
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22. INVESTMENTS (Continued) 22.
As at 31 December 2014 (Continued)

RE& (&)

R-ZE-DOFE+ZA=+—-H#)

Net assets
attributable Dividend/
Name of equity/debt Interest to the Invested Carrying interest
securities Nature of business held (%) Company amount amount received
FisE  AOAER 2l
RE/BEES2R EBNHE s  EERE REH REE RE/FS
(%) HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR TR THT
BOC Hong Kong Bank 0.00 3,124 4,962 4,943 -
(Holdings) Limited s
RHEER(ER)ERAH
Lenovo Group Limited Manufacture and trading of 0.00 970 4,964 4,590 27
GEEEBRLA PC products
REREBEREM
Unlisted equity securities FILTRAZES
EREE (note 25) Leasing of property and vehicles 30.00 4509 12,000 5,900 -
GRER(Hi725) NERAERE
Listed debt securities LHERER
China Overseas Grand note N/A N/A 4,828 4,784 -
Ocean Finance o5z TEm TER
IR B
New World China Oceans note k N/A N/A 4,772 4,758 -
Finance Il Land Limited M3tk TER TER
(“New World China Land")
MR EREERAA
(T3t A Bl ])
Yancoal International note | N/A N/A 4,665 4,570 -
Resources Development 5] TER TER
Company Limited
(“Yancoal International”)
RREARERERAERARA
((RREER])
123,307 91,991 27
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22. INVESTMENTS (Continued) 22. ®E (&)
Notes: Hiat -

Jete Holdings

Jete Holdings was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the GEM board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 08133). Jete
Holdings and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
manufacturing and sales of cast metal products.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to the owners of
Jete Holdings was approximately HK$12.5 million and its
audited consolidated equity attributable to the owners of
Jete Holdings was approximately HK$43.9 million.

HK Electric

HK Electric was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 02638). HK Electric
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
generation and supply of electricity to Hong Kong Island
and Lamma Island.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
HK Electric was approximately HK$3,591.0 million and its
audited consolidated equity attributable to the owners of
HK Electric was approximately HK$49,012.0 million.

China Financial Leasing

China Financial Leasing was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code:
02312). China Financial Leasing and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in short to medium term capital
appreciation by investing in a diversified portfolio of
investments in listed and unlisted securities in Hong
Kong and overseas on a general perspective.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to the owners of
China Financial Leasing was approximately HK$34.1
million and its audited consolidated equity attributable to
the owners of China Financial Leasing was approximately
HK$40.0 million.
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BEEER
EREERABEESEMATL  HRH
REBBRAIER E™ (BRH AR
08133) - MR R EMB AR EENE
HERBECBEETHHE -

BE_T-AEt+-_A=+—RHILWHEE
B SerREEAELEEERRABIE
#9412,500,000/% 7T 1 &5 AL 12 AR B 5 A FE
1 4B IZ AR 6 #5549 543,900,00078 7T ©

BEE
BREIRFEHS MR HR
MRBEBBRIAMER LT (BRH R :
02638) - BEBENREWBARFENS
BEWRNEESREVEHE -

BE_T-REt+_A=t+—HILHHE
E -ABRENBRAANEEEEZES R
#53,591,000,000/8 T M B EE HEE A
JEAG 8 B 7% 47 & ¥ 21 49 A49,012,000,000
BT e

TEEREE
FReBEENAESEEEMMKY K
BORBEBMER LM (BRI :
02312) - FESBMHENEMBARTE
RE2ERERBTEREII LT RIFLT
EFZZ T REEGNERTREAEAR
THE -

BHE-_Z—RFE+-A=+—B LK
FE FHSBREEREABRGLEERZ
A BB 4 534,100,000 i B £
MEEREAAELLECERRAEENA
40,000,000/ JT °
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22. INVESTMENTS (Continued) 22. ®E (&)
Notes: (Continued) et - (&)

KSL Holdings

KSL Holdings was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands
and its shares are listed on the GEM board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 08170). KSL
Holdings and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of engineering consulting, contracting and
project management services in Hong Kong with a focus
on geotechnical engineering works.

For the six months ended 31 January 2016, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of KSL
Holdings was approximately HK$17.2 million and its
unaudited consolidated equity attributable to the owners
of KSL Holdings was approximately HK$109.8 million.

Future Bright Mining

Future Bright Mining was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 02212).
Future Bright Mining and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the production and sale of marble and
marble related products.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to the owners of
Future Bright Mining was approximately RMB2.8 million
and its audited consolidated equity attributable to the
owners of Future Bright Mining was approximately
RMB95.1 million.

HSBC

HSBC was incorporated in the England and its shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong (stock code: 00005). HSBC and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of international
banking and financial services.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
HSBC was approximately US$13,522.0 million and its
audited consolidated equity attributable to the owners of
HSBC was approximately US$197,518.0 million.

KSL Holdings

KSL HoldingsihA S B EFMMA T - HR
MREBBZAAIER BT (RH RS
08170) ° KSL Holdings R KB AT T E
REERENRBREIRENR RBARE
BERRE FIReTITREEYE -

HE-_T-—XF-A=Z+—HALL~EA"
KSL Holdings# B A E1E REFZ K E
5% | #) /517,200,0003% 7T fKSL Holdings
BEANELEAREERGRAERNA
109,800,000/ 7T ©

= IR
SEBEENHERSEMMAL  ER
MREBBEIAER LT (R MRS :
02212) - B EERAMBEARNEZ2HRE
EEREEREARKREAHEBER® -

HE-_Z-—RAF+_A=1+—BILBHK
FE BBEEEEAABEEERRS
BE YA ARE2800,0007T M = 1B 1E %
BAANEBERERRAEEROABARE
95,100,0007T °

TEE
EEREBEEMA Y ERNRE BB
FrEREM (B H RS 00005) < EE R
HWBARETEXBRERBRIT RS
IR 75 o

BE_T-RAEt+_A=1+—HILBHE
B ERBEABREEEZESRNOA
13,522,000,0003% 7t i JE 1% # 5 A FE {5 &
EZRAERY A197,518,000,000E 7T °
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22.

INVESTMENTS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

Newtree Group

Newtree Group was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 01323).
Newtree Group and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in (i)manufacture and trading of clinical and
household hygienic disposables and trading of related
raw materials; (ii)trading of coal products; (iii)wholesale
and retail of household consumables; (iv)sales and
distribution of jewelries and watches; (v)design
and development of three-dimensional animations,
augmented reality technology application and e-learning
web application; and (iv)provision of educational
technology solutions through online education programs
and provision of English language proficiency tests.

For the six months ended 30 September 2015, the
unaudited consolidated loss attributable to the owners
of Newtree Group was approximately HK$60.2 million
and its unaudited consolidated equity attributable to the
owners of Newtree Group was approximately HK$533.7
million.

Tencent Holdings

Tencent Holdings was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 00700).
Tencent Holdings and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of Internet and mobile value-
added services, online advertising services and
eCommerce transactions services to users in the PRC.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to the owners
of Tencent Holdings was approximately RMB28,806.0
million and its audited consolidated equity attributable
to the owners of Tencent Holdings was approximately
RMB122,100.0 million.
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RIEH
RINEERHEHSEMA T HR
MREBBIMER LW (BHARRK:
mww°ﬁm§l&ﬁWE“ﬂ$§%$
(WWERBEERLRERBNH — KR
immﬁggm%ﬁﬁﬂzmaaﬁﬁﬁ
m (I ERTEREREER  (VIHER
DEREREE (WHDHE BEEFE
&ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
B R(VVEBR EHERRIREHE
Bl R R R EFBKERIH -

BE-Z—AFNA=Zt+HBLEAER kK
NEE#REABREACERREBENA
60,200,000 st & )| EE#H B A EL R
I T IZAR A FES 49 A533,700,0008 7T

BEERIZ R
BAERNRAESESEMMAL - HR
MREBBIAER LD (RHARR:
00700) ~ BFIER R EMB AR EERE
EhRRAPRHABRE LS BILERS
BEBEERBUAREFEABR IR

BE_ZT-RAFt-_A=T-RLHEF
B BAERES ARGEEERES RN
#) 5 A R #28,806,000,0007T 1M 1 7l 1%
BEANELERERRAORENAARE
122,100,000,0007T *
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22. INVESTMENTS (Continued) 22. ®E (&)
Notes: (Continued) et - (&)

Superb Kingdom

Superb Kingdom was incorporated in Hong Kong.
It is principally engaged in the sale of LED lighting
products. For the financial year ended 31 March 2015,
the unaudited profit attributable to the owners of Superb
Kingdom was approximately HK$2.4 million and its
unaudited equity attributable to the owners of Superb
Kingdom was approximately HK$2.9 million.

China Overseas Grand Oceans Finance

China Overseas Grand Oceans Finance is a wholly
owned subsidiary of China Overseas Grand Oceans
Group Limited (“China Overseas Grand Oceans”),
which was incorporated in Hong Kong and its share are
listed on main board of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(stock code: 00081). China Overseas Grand Oceans
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property
investment and development of property leasing and
investment holding in the PRC. The listed debt security
carries an interest rate of 5.125% per annum.

New World China Land

New World China Land was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on main board of Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 00917). New World
China Land and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in investment and development of property projects in
the PRC. The listed debt security carries an interest rate
of 5.375% per annum

Yancoal International

Yancoal International is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited (“Yanzhou
Coal”), which was incorporated in the PRC and its
shares are listed on the main board of Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (stock code: 01171). Yanzhou Coal and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the coal mining
and preparation, coal sales and cargo transportation
by self-operated railways, road transportation, port
operation, comprehensive scientific and technical
services for coal mines, methanol production and sales.
The listed debt security carries an interest rate of 4.461%
per annum.

BE
BEREBEMAYL - EXBHEHELED
BEER BE-_T—AE=A=+—H
IHHBFE BERAABEREERE
4 52,400,000/ 7T M B E HE B AFEAE &
1% E T 4 52,900,000 7T ©

HEDEINEE R
FEBINEFMBEATRENETEES
BRAR([FREEINEF]) 22ENBAR -
REBINRFRESEMAL  ERHBR
BEABAERSMARARER LT (RHOR
5% 1 00081) © RELEINRF R EE A A
TEAHFEREMEREREE HEDY
ERBREER - BRLIMEBEBESZEF
R A5.125% °

ittt R E

Tt RPBEMERARESESEMAY &
BOREBHEXFMERARER LT
(B 19 R 5% : 00017) © 37t Rdh B b & o
HWBRAREEZEPEEERERBET
B - BBELMEBESZFEFNER5375% °

BEEK

DEEARAESMEEROBERAF ([R
MEED) Z2EWBRR -BNEEAE
HEBFMR L MR EE AR ERE
MR RE (RHKSR :01171) « M E
REWNBAREENHEHEKRFE HE -
BEREASKENES AKEWEH
BOLE EREANSBEMKRY - R
EEHE - BHELIMEBESFZFANEXA
4.461% e
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 23. HibfEhzE s ERNFZERRS
DEPOSITS
2015 2014
—EF-1F —T-mE
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHETT
Convertible bond principal AT aRESFES
receivable (note a) (Hiita) 13,240 13,680
Convertible bond coupon interest JEW AT MR ESZE
receivable (note a) (Wita) 5,372 5,372
Interest receivable from &M £ i JE U JE N 2 ) B
(note b) (Hitb) 75 75
Less: Provision for impairment B b FE WK IE R (E
loss on other receivables EiE R (18,687) (19,127)
Listed debt securities interest Bl E T EBHEHFE
receivables 256 168
Consideration receivable in respect of BT EMBE AT Z
disposal of subsidiaries FEWARAE = 1,003
Interest receivables on bank deposits BITER (BIEERBEH)
(including fixed deposits) pd 3 & PSS = 93
Others Hit - 3
256 1,267
Prepayments B RUB 1,537 570
Rental, utility and other deposits e ARAEEREMES 26 164
1,819 2,001
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting REEHEHEEERR A MR HEEK
date is the carrying value of each class of receivables REZEEE-

mentioned above.
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND

DEPOSITS (Continued)
Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group entered into an agreement to subscribe for
convertible bond (the “CB”) with principal amount of
RMB20,000,000 issued from Ascent Glory Holdings
Limited at a consideration of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$24,680,000). The CB carried interest of 20%
per annum and matured on 13 June 2014. The initial
conversion price was RMB2,400 per share (subject to
adjustment). During the year ended 31 December 2014,
the principal amount of CB of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$24,680,000) and the coupon interest receivable
of CB of approximately RMB4,353,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,372,000) were reclassified from convertible bond
receivable since the date of maturity of CB.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company had
received the total sum of repayments of approximately
RMB8,914,000 (equivalent to HK$11,000,000) and
the net outstanding receivable was approximately
RMB15,439,000 (equivalent to HK$19,052,000). The
Company considered the event of default on repayment
by the CB issuer was an objective evidence of
impairment. Hence, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$19,052,000 was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
received the total sum of further repayments of
HK$440,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB357,000)
and the provision of impairment of the same amount were
reversed accordingly. The net outstanding receivable as
at 31 December 2015 was approximately RMB15,082,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$18,612,000).

23.

HtbBWIE  AAREREE ()
HiEt -

() REBEZZ—ZF+ZA=+—BLHF
K& uTi_TﬁTﬁ% ABRREARYE
20,000,0007T (18 & # 24,680,000/ L) &
& A Ascent Glory Holdings Limited® 17
za:%%ﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬁgzooooooo;‘zzwﬁﬂﬁ
BHE(AREESR] T RREFRESF
0% BEYER_T—NEAAT=8F
B L HRERERARE24005T (7]
THE) HEZZ-—HNF+=-A=+—
BLEEE TREREHFZASBEARYE
20,000,0007t (48 & 724,680,000/ 7t) K&
ARl ESZ ERE B HAR4353,000
7T (FE 75,372,000 ) B B Al BRI E %
ZEMAREEERITRRESENHE -

><T¢+9”>

HE-_T-—NF+-_A=+—RHIEFE"
szEEHMJ,\%@/\E%BBM,OOOR(*H
711,000,000 7T) 2 3B 5K i a1 % FE 4K
IE?%%E%W%AE%MSE)OOO%(*ﬁ%‘ﬁé
19,052,000/ 7T) ° AR AR A BRRKRES
%ésﬁ)\ikﬁa%#xzmﬁ$¢z%%&ﬁm@aa
B-AARBE-_T—WNF+=-A=1+—
B 1k 5 C # R 05 E & 18 4919,052,000/%

JT °©

BE_Z-AF+t-A=Zt+-HLEFE"
A5 B2 B £ 49440,00008 7T (FRE R4
AR ®357,0007T) 2 # — ZEHMAER &
BZRMERBEHE BB -R_F—1F
TZA=T - BZHREBRBEFEOR
A #15,082,0007T (& 7 4718,612,000
BIL) o
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 23. HihEWFIE - ANFERIES (Z)

DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Mt (&)

(b) For an interest income of a deposit of the acquisition (b) HMUBEMEM 2 RE 2RO EWA
of investment in & of approximately HK$75,000 #975,0008 7T (ZF — M4 : 475,000/ 7T)
(2014: approximately HK$75,000) (note 21), the Group (M) mE  AEERABEREMNE
considered that the deposit of the acquisition of BREzmeREFRED - A8 R & KA
investment in B8 was not recoverable and thus the EMERBEFEZINE
interest receivable thereon was also fully impaired in prior
years.

Except for those described above, none of the above B L 3C Pt Hh - ot E A0 FEUCRIE - TE

other receivables, prepayments and deposits is either MR RiRe W EBHHRE -

past due or impaired.

Movements on the provision for impairment of other Hin el B ERE 2 EFH0T
receivables are as follows:

2015 2014

—E-hF —T—mF

HK$000 HK$000

FaT FHET

At 1 January ®—HA—H 19,127 2,715
Less: Reversal of impairment loss B BEUREEE (440) (2,640)
Add: Provision for impairment loss e RmEEBERE - 19,052
At 31 December R+—A=+—8H 18,687 19,127
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 24. BERIBITHESR
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the BeRBESEEMUTHEEAE:

following currencies:

2015 2014
— —E-mEF
HK$000 HK$000
TERT TAT
HK$ AT 24,881 103,704
RMB AR 5,977 12,500
usD X 568 626
Cash and bank balances e MIRITES 31,426 116,830
Less: Fixed deposits W EEER - (12,500)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMAEFEYD 31,426 104,330
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based RTREESARTEINZNZFH =
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are HE - BBRTESERAEER TR ER
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history HiHE /K R 4% 7 $R1T ©
of default.
RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC ARBWIFATER LBy EEREL B H
and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject ZESTPERFETHINES 55 -
to the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed UIARBAE s AEBRAERSNETE
by the PRC government. All of the Group’s cash and MERANBERSRETEREMNAE
bank balances and all of the Company’s cash and bank B HAZHNEES SIFTRE -

balances denominated in RMB are located in Hong
Kong which is not subject to the foreign exchange
control.
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25. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 25. DEAEELECEE

2015 2014

—E-A0F —T—OF

HK$000 HK$000

FET FiBT

At 1 January ®—HA—H 5,900 2,800

Disposal HE = (2,800)
Transfer from available-for-sale EgriHEeREE

financial assets (note 18) (Ht5t18) - 5,900

At 31 December W+=-—BR=+—H 5,900 5,900

On 30 December 2014, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party in relation
to the disposal of the entire 30% equity interest in 1t
% for a consideration of HK$5,900,000. Accordingly,
the related assets were reclassified as held for sale at
31 December 2014.

R-ZE—NE+-_A=+H AEFHE—
FBIUE = FEFIALEE - 25,900,000 7T
ZRETEILRESE 2 2E80% K AN Ex
A - HEEEEENHBEAR T —T
F+-_A=+—BHELHELEE -

As at 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company
considered that the Group remains committed to its ERABARER N NRHEHEREEEEY
plan to sell the asset. =z o

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
received the full consideration of HK$5,900,000 which
is set out in note 27.

HE-2-AE+-A=+-RLFE:
A& E B Y E 2 5~ (85,900,000 7T (40
Bt sEo7 ) o
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
The movements of share capital of the Company are as RARBRAEHMT
follows:
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
EERYE EEREE
Notes '000 HK$000
et Fi& TAET
Authorised: HE
At 1 January 2014, 31 December RZ-ZZ-WFE—F—H -
2014 and 1 January 2015 “E-ME+ZA=+-HK
at HK$0.01 each —Z-n¥-A-H-
FR.01BTT 20,000,000 200,000
At 31 December 2015 R-ZB2-A%+ZA=t-H"
at HK$0.10 each ER0.10%B T 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2014 R-ZZE—HWE—HF—H 359,160 3,592
Exercise of share options ERERETE 9,273 93
Placing of new shares EREMRH (a) 71,832 718
Placing of new shares REMRNH (b) 86,390 864
Rights issue fitfiz (c) 2,106,618 21,066
At 31 December 2014 and RZE-mE+ZA=+—H 2,633,273 26,333
1 January 2015 E—E—-RF—A—H
Share consolidation & Bt (d) (2,369,945) -
Placing of new shares BREMB R (e) 52,662 5,266
At 31 December 2015 R-B-AF+=-A=+—-H 315,990 31,599
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Notes:

27.

(a)

In January 2014, the Company issued a total of
71,832,000 ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.01
each at a price of HK$0.165 each. Further details were
mainly set out in the announcement dated 20 January
2014.

In May 2014, the Company issued a total of 86,390,000
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.01 each at a
price of HK$0.41 each. Further details were mainly set
out in the announcement dated 23 May 2014.

In September 2014, a total of 2,106,618,000 ordinary
shares was issued at a subscription price of HK$0.10 per
share by way of rights issue on the basis of four rights
shares for every one share held on 3 September 2014.
Details were set out in the prospectus of the Company
dated 4 September 2014.

With effective from 16 March 2015,
consolidated its shares on the basis that every ten

the Company

issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01 each has been
consolidated into one consolidated share of HKO0.10
each. Further details were mainly set out in the circular
dated 25 February 2015 and announcement dated 13
March 2015.

In August 2015, the Company issued a total of
52,662,000 ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.10
each at a price of HK$0.51 each. Further details were
mainly set out in the announcement dated 3 August 2015.

26. BRA (&)

(a)

R A FHEF%0.16578
£71,832,0000% & % @ &
o it — 5#|Iﬁﬁ%
—RA=+8z22

%\ﬁ::m

%

—ER A AR BERTR0.41E
EZFW%ﬁé%%3%owHih@ﬁ
001tz EBR - E—THFBEEHR
BfA-Z—NFRA-T=ZAZ M-

RZZE—MEAR ARRAER-_T—NO
FRAZHEHE RGO REEORM
W%Pzgﬁﬁﬁ#&ﬁuiﬁom%ﬁ
REEEETA H£2,106,618,000/% & i
X°§ﬁﬁ%$AQH%ﬁ—i*@¢ﬂ
ANBZ #HiRERE -
H-ZT—AF=-A+ B8 KAFET
Bmatt ZREAGTRERCOIETZ
BBEARABRTRNEGHA—BRTRE
BEOIOB T ZEHRMN - E—PHBEE

gERARAABAZT—RFE-_A=-+HA
AzBERkAEAE-_T—AF=A+=H
/N

RZZE—RAFNA EREERFR051E
TTZ BB a%wewom%iﬁﬁﬁ
0.10 7L 2 & @Ak - THBEEZHER

BHA—ZT— ﬁiﬂﬂ S AN

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HAEMNFRERETHX
2015 2014
—E-0F —PE
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET

Receipt-in-advance regarding BRHELtREE Y

the disposal of it REE SR O 5,900 -
Accruals EETFHE X 3,780 1,581
9,680 1,581
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28. SECURED BANK LOAN 28. HKFIRITEN
2015 2014
—T-HF —FT-0mF
HK$000 HK$000
TR FET

The bank loan is repayable as follows:  $RITE R ZERBMT ¢
Within one year —FR 448 -

Carrying amounts of bank loan that is BARRE AR

not repayable within one year from —FRNERE -
the end of the reporting period but EBEREEEEX
contains a repayment on demand BRIERCBRITER
clause (shown under current liabilites) ®EREE FIARBEE) 4,070 -
4,518 -
Less: Amount due within one year W —FEANEE 2 BB
(shown under current liabilities) FIAREEE) (4,518) -
Amount due after one year —FIRE A2 A - -
The 10-year instalment loan is repayable on demand TEHSMEFERERBENAREE
and has been secured by a mortgage over the Group’s RANEMEIRBEER  REBEMX
office premises, bearing interest at 2.5% below prime W2.5E 2 FMEETR o
rate per annum.
29. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE LEASE 29. MEHERIE
2015 2014
—ZE-—TE —Z—NFE
HK$000 HK$000
FaET FET
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BmEMI>FTOT -
Current liabilities mBEE 3,245 -
Non-current liability ERBEE 5,961 -
At 31 December R+ZA=+—8H 9,206 -
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29. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE LEASE

(Continued)

The Group’'s yacht has been under a finance lease of
a three-year term. The related interest rate is 1.75%
below Hong Kong dollar best lending rate per annum.
The Group has also an option to purchase the yacht for
a nominal amount at the end of the lease term.

29. MERSHRIEE)

AEBENBERITE-FHORELE -
AMERETREBENRBI75EZF
Rl R o 7K 8 5 A] 58 2 0 FH B A RS DA —
HETRBAZEE -

Present value of

Minimum minimum lease
lease payments payments
BREEENR BREHENRZRE
2015 2014 2015 2014

—®-1%F -T-PF —B-EF -T-pF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THT  TET  TEx  TEx

Obligation under finance
leases payable:

Within one year

Within a period of more than
one year but not more
than two years

Within a period of more than
two years but not more
than five years

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligation

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

RMEREAEEAER
AT B XA
—&FR
BE—FETHBE
mE Z IR R

HEMFETER
hEZHEA

B RREI S
HEAERE

B 128 A R EI
Xz eH

GIARBEE)

K128 A &
AWMz e 8

3,516 - 3,245 -
3,516 - 3,361 -
2,638 - 2,600 -
9,670 - 9,206 -

(464) -
9,206 -
(3,245) -
5,961 -
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30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of approximately HK$32,354,000 (2014:
approximately HK$21,305,000) in respect of losses
amounting to approximately HK$196,083,000 (subject
to be approved) (2014: approximately HK$129,124,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable
income. The estimated tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made
as the Group does not have any significant timing
difference in tax provision which is expected to be
crystallised in the foreseeable future (2014: Nil).

31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

30. EEMBEH
AEBECHRAERBEERERELHNB
MEE WMABBABBENRZTEERA
BERHREFNEREAR AEBELE
RO EEEEAREEREAZEBES
1B #)196,083,0008 L (ZZ — W& : 4
129,124,000 70) R BEEMESHEELD
32,354,000 7T (B 5 MR) (ZE— 1 F :
#721,305,0007 7T) ° {H st B IEE 1B A R
HA k82 o

F B0 7S 5% [ 3 A ) FE H3 RT 0 AT TR R 2R
BEZEARBRERZ  RLERET
MIBELBE(ZT—NF &) -

31. BAREIE

2015 2014
—E-hHF —T—OF
HK$000 HK$000
FTERT FHET
Authorised and contracted, but ERERETHME R
not provided for:
Acquisition of property, BEWME WERZE
plant and equipment - 781

32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 (2014: HK$30,000).

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss of approximately HK$276,000 (2014:
approximately HK$237,000) represents contributions
payable to this scheme by the Group in respect of the
current accounting year.

32. BRRBRERE
REBAMEGERBBREELE®RH N
NESHE - FEEERLAEEEEDH
HE BAETANEGFAER -A£E
RBEZHRAMEEELS%ER - BB
TERBRLLEGIEHER  E@EF AKA
£ R A30,0008 T (ZF — M4 : 30,000/8
JL) °

BERABERING 2K AR 4276,000/ T
(ZZT % : £237,000/87T) AR EEH
ARG FERULE S RMNZ HK -
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33. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. ERBEALRS
The following significant transactions were carried out CHEBEALTETUATERARS

with related parties:

2015 2014
—E-HEF —E-NF
HK$000 HK$000
FTER FET
Investment management fee paid and ENREMNEEERE
payable to:
Success Talent Investments Limited KEREBR AR
(notes a and d) (Kiatakd) 345 -
China International Capital Limited BB EARBRA A
(note a) (Kiita) 179 1,505
Custody services fee paid and ENRENTEERBEE
payable to:
Standard Chartered Bank BITRIT(EB)ERRAA
(Hong Kong) Limited (note a) (Kiita) 165 136
Chong Hing Bank Limited (note a) BIBRITAER LA (M ita) 32 -
Rental deposits, expenses and electricity B ERS - HEMAX
charges disbursement paid to: RENEE:
Ngai Lik Properties Limited (note b) RANERRRE (K itb) = 205
Commission paid in respect of WHENAEMES
acquisition of an office BN
premises to:
Ngai Sing Properties Limited (note b) RAMWEFRRE (F72b) - 123

Notes:

a. Pursuant to Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules, any a.
investment manager, investment adviser or custodian
(or any connected person thereof) is regarded as a
connected person.

b.  Dr. Lam Man Chan is the Chairman and Non-executive b.
Director of the Company and he is also a director and the
shareholder of Ngai Lik Properties Limited and Ngai Sing
Properties Limited.

C. Remuneration for key management personnel represents c.
amounts paid to the Company’s directors and chief
executive officer as disclosed in note 13.

d.  Mr. Lee Kwok Leung is the Executive Director of the d.
Company and he is also one of the responsible officers
of Success Talent Investments Limited.
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The Company’s Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 31 July
2012 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors of the Company and eligible participants
(as defined in the Scheme), and will expire on 30 July
2022. Under the Scheme, the Board may grant options
to directors of the Company (including Non-executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors)
and its eligible participants to subscribe for shares in
the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or Independent Non-executive Directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with
a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on or before the
relevant acceptance date, upon payment of HK$1 for
the options granted. Options may be exercised at any
time from the date of grant of the share options to a
period to be notified by the Board to each grantee at
the time of making such offer, which shall not expire
later than 10 years from the date of grant. The exercise
price is determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion and will not be less than the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant; (b) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the
Company on the date of grant.

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34.

BT S

ARA R BRAER S ([ZE 8] HRER
TE-CFLEAZT-HBBZRERM
R TEANARBARRAEERAE
meRE (ExR %8 ZtEsRr=
E__FEtA=tHE® REZTE -
EEZgNMARRER(BEIFNTESR
BIUFRTER) REAERSEER T
RBAD A 2 BB HE -

fERGARR AR F LA MER - BIRFZET
e R s BREMS RBROHBE T
BERBARNAIMEREZETRMDI0% -
FERERABREE U ER  RERSF
ERERNERNALTTERDBERESR 2
BHHE  TEBBAQRERERE R
TP 1% o fWm £ B R IB L IEHT
EERPBBARARA0A%BKEEIRB
5,000,000 LA ME AR - BE L BEA R A
P& SR o

FRIRHBREL AN EBEAR I ZA
B B ANERBERENUETH
FE-BREVEARHAPEZEFEER
% TE A R AR AR H R R RE R
TE FMAARNKERHMES TFR-
TEERESS2RNBETE  RETHE
ERATESE  (QRA2AAKRMRELA
HEBXABEMNERRERARKHE
(b)A A F B N EZE A A R E % %
AEBMIMEMNERRERMBTHK
ME R(e)ARAIRMHVE L HHNEE -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. BRESE (E)

On 31 March 2014, the Company granted share options
under the Scheme to certain directors and employees
of the Company, which entitle them to subscribe for a
total of 8,285,300 ordinary shares at HK$0.61 per share,
upon payment of HK$1 per grant.

As approved by the Board (including the approval of the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company)
and requested by each of the grantees, the Company
and the grantees agree that the total 11,772,300 share
options granted to them were cancelled with effect from
28 November 2014.

On 28 August 2015, the Company granted share
options under the Scheme to certain directors and
employees of the Company, which entitle them to
subscribe for a total of 8,060,000 ordinary shares at
HK$0.431 per share, upon payment of HK$1 per grant.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are

as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2015

RZE-—NE=A=+—8 KR27EE
ZETERNARRETEEREERTBER
BERBRER THERIES AR
SM1EBTTEEFRO6IB T ZBRAES
$£8,285,300% & @AY °

REZHE (BEARRBIUIENTE
EHE)UARASTZEEARAIGE  AQ
ARREARARE BRYESWAEH
11,772,300 EEREE A T — W F +—
B+ \B#EEH -

RZE-—RFNAZ+NB KAFERE
ZETERARRETEEREERTBR
EOEHBRERTRSENTEE ARG
1B T EIRER04NB T ZEBRAE
4 4£8,060,0000% & 3@ A% -

WARTTRERESR A R LB MmE T
EBz2FHMT :

BE-E-AF+ZA=t-HLEE

As at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled As at
Exercised 1 January during during during during 31 December
Date of grant price 2015 the year the year the year the year 215
R
ZE-1f
RZ%-1% 25
bk kg -f-8 REREH RERTR  RERKR  READH =1-8
28 August 2015 “E-RENAZTIA HK$0.431% T - 8,060,000 - - - 8,060,000
- 8,060,000 - - - 8,060,000

Weighted METHEE

average

evercise price NATER HKS0 431 NAFER NATER  NATER HKS0.431
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014

34. BRETTE (&)
BE_ZT—HNF+A=+—BILFE

Exercised
price affer
adjustment
for open offer Asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Asat
and share 1 January during during during during 31 December
Date of grant consolidation 2014 the year the year the year the year 2014 Notes
(note a) (note a)
RAAREE R
Riktras i St
fR2E  R-E-BE +28
boilsE bAii -A-B RERRE RERAR RERRR REREH -8k
(Hita) (Trita)
30 January 2008 ZEENE-RITRE O HKS1AB AR 682,759 - - (682,759) - -
10 June 2009 TEENERATE HKS1AER 113793 - - (113,793) - - b
26 July 2011 ZE--ELAZTRA HKS060 AT 4294000 - - (1,800,000) (2,494,000) -0

10September 2013 “E-ZEAATR HK$0.250 70 26,637,700 -

31 March 2014 ZE-BEZAZT-B HKS0G10#T - 8,285,300

O2050) (W30 (2083000) -

(Q000000)  (6285300) _

31,728,252 8,285,300

(9.272500) (18968752 (11,72,300) -

Weighted average METEE
exercise price HKSO.336% T HKS0610 %

HKS0.250 T HKSOB0ET  HKS052T BT -

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2014, a total
number of 18,968,752 share options had been lapsed
due to the resignation of directors and employees. On 28
November 2014, the Company and the grantees agreed
to cancel 11,772,300 share options granted. Details
are set out in the Company’s announcement date 28
November 2014.

(b) The number of share options and its exercise price had
been adjusted after the completion of open offer and
share consolidation of the Company on 16 June 2011
and 30 November 2011 respectively.

Wt -

() REBEE-_ZT-—NWN&E+-_A=+—HLHF
- AH18,968, 752 EREEHA AES
FEERBMAR - R_ZT—NF+—A
ZHNB ARAEARAREZHE R
tH211,772,3000 BEBR 4 - B A AR
ARMA-Z—MNE+—A=Z+NBZA
o

(b) BREZZERETEESRARRTD 5
RZZE— —E/\Hﬂ—/\ﬁ&_?——i
+ RETBHBZ2REERKRHEHTK
& 1EH R
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c) The number of share options and its exercise price had
been adjusted after the completion of share consolidation
of the Company on 30 November 2011.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2014, number of
8,285,300 in which 2,000,000 share options was lapsed
and in which 6,285,300 share options that the Company
and the grantees agreed to cancel the options with effect
from 28 November 2014. Such effect of the lapsed and
cancelled of total number of 8,285,300 share options
amounted to approximately HK$2,242,000 was share-
based payments charged to profit or loss and deducted
through the related reserve account upon cancellation
and lapse in the same year.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, number
of 8,060,000 share options had been granted. The
estimated fair value of the share options granted
on 2015 was approximately HK$1,185,000. Total
consideration received during the year from directors
of the Company for taking up the share options granted
amounted to HK$1. The fair value was calculated using
the Trinomial Model, taking into account the terms and
condition upon which the options were granted.

The significant assumptions and inputs used in the
valuation model are as follows:

4. BRESTE(Z)

Hret - ()

(c) BBEZEARLTEEDRAD TR
—E——Et-AS+AZKRG AR
kB -

(d) REBEEZZ-DNF+-A=+-—BLLFE "
8,285,30017 % % # 7 2,000,00017 & % 1%
BRM - MARFEARARBEHEF
6,285,300 lEfk#E - B =T —WF+— A
ZHNBRER - EELA2,242,0007 T
2 & $£8,285,30017 i AR 4 7 2K B K L 4 R
288 CRRA-—FERSZIHIEEH
KMk FEBRBRBRME

HE-_ZT—AE+-_RAR=+—RHLEFE "
KEBEPD K HES,060,0001 B E - R
T -RFEREEREZHFTAREY
£1,185,0008 0 - FNE ARG EZER
EREREERZBRERIBL - AAE
Rt RBRHEREZ R RGESE  B=
BABEAE -

RAEEEARAZ TZBERIBABHNT

As at

28 August

2015

R-ZZE-EF

NABZ+NH

Fair value at measurement date REt2EEBHZARE HK$0.1477%8 T
Share price R (B HK$0.4158 7T
Exercise price T E HK$0.4315%8 7T
Expected volatility TEHI K 18 94.103%
Risk-free interest rate £ [ B 7| 2K 0.723%

Expected dividend yield

PR BB 3R
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, number
of 8,285,300 share options has been granted. The
estimated fair value of the share options granted
on 2014 was approximately HK$2,242,000. Total
consideration received during the year from directors
of the Company for taking up the share options granted
amounted to HK$1. The fair value was calculated using
the Trinomial Model, taking into account the terms and
condition upon which the options were granted.

The significant assumptions and inputs used in the
valuation model are as follows:

34. BRESTE (&)
Hz—_T—mW&E+-_B=+—B1tFE-
NEEDFHS,285,3001) B AE -
—E-NFEREEREZGHIFAAEY
A2242 0008 T FRNEARREZEMR
EERBEREEKZARERIET - 2AE
REt MR ERE 2GR RIEHER  BH=
BAEASE -

RAEEEARA T EBREBAERNT

Fair value at measurement date

R ERHZARE

Share price M8
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility 8 B IR

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

1 2| [ 1) =
T A% . 3%

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility (calculated based on the expected life of the
share options), adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility due to public available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in subjective input assumption could
materially affect the fair value estimate. Share options
were granted under a service condition. This condition
has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There was
no market conditions associated with the share options
grant.

35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Company granted share options under the Scheme
to certain directors and employees of the Company,
which entitle them to subscribe for a total of 8,060,000
ordinary shares at HK$0.431 per share, upon payment
of HK$1 per grant. The estimated fair value of the share
options granted on 2015 was HK$1,185,000 (2014:
approximately HK$2,242,000).

As at

31 March

2014
RZZE—NEFE
—A=+—H
HK$0.27067% 7T
HK$0.617% 7T
HK$0.6178 7T
73.519%
2.303%

FEERR IR B N E SRR R (IR IRIE IR RO T8
HIMRETE) - 2 AT R AR5 A A
REMEEZ RTRENTERE S TIAH
BR-BHREDERELRE - TEHEA
RENAEAERABRELZEQAAEN
18 - B8 AR AR IR IR A% R F X o P URER
RBREF B Z AR B E RS Z G
A AZ B o I AT 5 15 1 B O R
AR

3. TEERERS
BE-_Z—HTF+-_A=1+—BLEE -
RARIREZFERNARRNETEERE
ERTERE FHEBERERTHESER
EEIRBESZH1E TR R ER0431E T
2B AEA 18,060,000/ @M - 7 =
T-HFERHBREZGAROABELNA
1,185,000/ 7T (=& — U 4 : 492,242,000
BIL) °
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36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF  36. AARAZEESEZREHES
THE COMPANY

178 CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2015

(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) ARRAIZEEERER
2015 2014
—E—FHE —E—NE
HK$000 HK$000
T FHET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BE KRB 55 78
Interests in subsidiaries RWB ARz E= 3 1
Intangible asset mEEE 120 120
Available-for-sale financial assets  AJ{E N &S @& E 4,636 -
4,814 199
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGIE 54,209 38,646
Financial assets at fair value BARERAEBRZ
through profit or loss TRVEE 154,291 97,386
Other receivables, prepayments HAib U IR - F A
and deposits RERIES 651 721
Cash and bank balances e MIRITERR 23,895 110,867
233,046 247,620
Assets classified as held for sale DEABIELEZEE 5,900 5,900
238,946 253,520
Total assets EEBEE 243,760 253,719
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36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)

36. AREZEERERRHRBED(H)

(a) XRAZEEEER(E)

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
HK$000 HK$000
FTHERT FHET
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the RRAREEAEGEES
owners of the Company
Share capital [N 31,599 26,332
Reserves & 203,224 225,806
Total equity FER AR 234,823 252,138
LIABILITY =R
Current liability R E=R=
Other payables and accruals HAb e RIB R ER X 8,937 1,581
Total liability BEAE 8,937 1,581
Total equity and liability BakaERE 243,760 253,719
Net current assets REEEFE 230,009 251,939
Total assets less current liability EEBERARDER 234,823 252,138
Approved by the Board on 30 March 2016 and RZE—RNEF-A=-t+HEEESHET
signed on its behalf by: HMATESREREE

Lam Man Chan
MR
Director

EZF

Lee Kwok Leung
ZER
Director

EZF
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36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company

36. ARNEZEERERRARBER(H)

(b) ARBZRBEE

Available-
Share-based forsale
Share  Contributed payment fairvalue Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
kf  THHE
ROEE  HABR  AREE LNERE  EAER E2h)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
ThR TEn TR TR T TEn
At 1 January 2014 R-E-RE-F-H 21,415 124,404 4,061 (2,162) (89,449) 64,269
Loss for the year EEER - - - - (12857)  (72857)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) A2 AN/ (BR)
Items that may be reclassified ERUENIEZES
subsequently to profit or loss: LBER:
- Change in fair value of available- - ESREEY
for-sale financial assets NEEY - - - (758) - (758)
- Reclassification of available-for-sale ~ ~EEERREEENS
fair value reserve upon impairment TREEN T ERE
loss recognised EEip| - - - 2920 - 2,920
Total comprehensive incomef{loss) FERANE/ (BR)2E
for the year - . - 2160 (72857)  (1069%)
Proceeds from placing of new shares  EEFRH 2 FI1EUE 45,690 - - - - 45,690
Issuing expenses of placing of new RENRR 2 ETRT
shares (1.291) - - - - (1,291)
Proceeds from rights issue of new shares W& A3 B 75k 2
HEE 189,596 - - - - 189,59
Issuing expenses of rights issue of R A R A
new shares LEORR (6,230) - - - - (6230)
Share options granted during the year  ERE 1 2 R 1 - - 2,42 - - 2,42
Share options exercised during the year A7 2B RE 3,202 - 977) - - 2,005
Share options lapsedjcancelled EREAM/HH
during the year LERE - - (5,326) - 5,32 -
At 31 December 2014 RZZE-MET-A=T-H
and 1 January 2015 R=E-1F-F-H 258,382 124,404 - - (156,980) 225,806
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2015 —E—HF+=-HA=+—H

36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 36. AABIZEEEBREHFESZS (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (Continued) (b) ATz HEEEE (&)
Available-
Share-based for-sale
Share  Contributed payment fairvalue Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total

L
BtaE  MARR  NHERE DAERE  ZHEER it
HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKS000
TER TERL TRR TEL  TER TERL

Loss for the year EEER - - - - (44,637) (44637
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) ~ Ht2ANE/ (H1#)
ltems that may be reclassified ARUENIEZEA EE

subsequently to profit or loss:
- Change in far value of avallable- -~ HESHEEY

for-sale financial assets ) - - - (64) - (64)
- Reclassification of available-forsale  ~REERHESEME
fair value reserve upon ARHEDLERE
impairment loss recognised ENDE - - - 64 - 64
Total comprehensive loss EErEBELE
for the year - - - - (44,637) (44,637)
Proceeds from placing of new shares ~ EEXRG 2 FE5E 21,591 - - - - 21,591
Issuing expenses of placing RENRN  EAEX
of new shares (721) - - - - (721)
Share options granted during the year  £REH 2 BlE - - 1,185 - - 1,18
Transfer to contributed surplus BREZHARR (258382) 258,382 - - - -
Elimination of accumulated losses HEABREHR -5 -1E
at 31 December 2014 against tZA=t-HZ & ER
contributed surplus - (156,980) - - 156,980 -
At 31 December 2015 R-E-RE+ZB=+-H 20870 225806 1,18 - (44637) 203224
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M E R

31 December 2015 —E—HRE+—-A=+—H

37. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES 37. EEWBLARZFHE
Particulars of the significant subsidiaries of the RZE—RHF+_A=+—H ' AQAE&E
Company as at 31 December 2015 were as follows: BB AR ZHBHIWOT :
Nominal value
of issued ordinary
share capital/ Percentage of equity
Place of registered paid-up attributable to
Name of company incorporation capital the Company Principal activities
BROTERER
aE Ak RAEE/ AREEE
NRAER i3 AMBRER BEADL TEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# B
Ample Star Global Limited British Virgin US$100 100 - Investment holdings
WERRERRAA Islands 100%E 7T RERR
RERKEE
Hua Bao Asia International British Virgin US$1 100 - Investment holdings
Limited Islands iE REER
ERTNERBER DA ABRAES
Master Glory Holdings Limited British Virgin US$1 - 100 Investment holdings
Islands E REER
RERUES
Nicefield Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holdings
NEBEENERRF B BT RERR
New Spark International Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS$1 100 - Investment holdings
MEBERABRAA e 1B RERK
Silver World International Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holdings
Limited Bk BT REER
REARERAF
Starry Light International Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holdings
Limited B BT RERR
EXERERAF
Dragon Leap Ventures British Virgin US$100 - 100 Investment holdings
Limited Islands 100% 7T KA
ERABRERAF RBRAHS
Ample Gain Investment Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holdings
Limited B BT REER
ERREBRRA
Ever Shiner Investment Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holdings
Limited BB BT REZK
KARERR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
el ?ﬁiﬁil‘ﬁﬁi

31 December 2015 — =

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

—hRFt+-—HA=+—H~

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2015, the office premises with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$12,506,000
(81 December 2014: approximately HK$13,036,000)
was pledged for an instalment loan and the Group’s
obligation under a finance lease was secured by the
Group’s title to the leased asset, which had a carrying
amount of approximately HK$14,276,000.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of the net asset value per share at
the end of the reporting period is based on the net
assets value of approximately HK$232,300,000 and
approximately 315,990,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each in issue at 31 December 2015. The net asset value
per share as at 31 December 2015 was HK$0.735.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

a. In February 2015, the Company issued a total
of 63,192,000 ordinary shares with par value of
HK$0.10 each at a price of HK$0.300 each. Full
details were set out in the announcement dated 1
February 2016.

b. In March 2016, certain approval of the change in
shareholding of It RZ & has been obtained.

APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30
March 2016.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

EEIR T

RZE—aAF+ZR=+—H HEEAE
# /12,506,000 L (Z T —WF + = A
=+ —H 413,036,000 L) 2HEAE
MECRL —ENHERMERFR B K
SEREREAENAESEETEY
14,276,000/ L 2 HE B EF B REIEER -

EREEFE

RBEHEERBECEREEFENRE
W_E—RAE+-_A=+—R2EEFE
%mammm%ﬁ&aﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁmo
W IT 2 &AL 49315,990,000/0% 5t & o 1A =
T-RAF+ZRA=+— EZ#&&F@@
A0.7358 7T °

=)

ExefEaEs8azsE—_T a5 +_-H
=t RAEFERNRERES (ZF—04F:
&) -

HEBMERSAE

a R-T—HE-F AQARKER
0.3007% 7T 2 B 1% %174 63,192,000
B EE10B T2 LA - & 26
HBECERBHAE T —RFE_A—

AN i

b. RZE—XRE=A CHEEEILER
EEREZFS 2 ETHIE -

HELGR S ISR K

BREDEEZGN _TE— R F=

4= AN
Tl:l

B
+RHERRETE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFMBEE

31 December 2015 —E—HRE+—-A=+—H

Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is as follows:

AEERBEAFAZERE BERAGRHE

mF :

For the year ended 31 December
BET-A=t-HLEE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E-1f -Z-WF —ZT-=f -—T--& -T——F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL TET TEL FTET TEL
Results B4
Loss before income tax RETBHAIER (47,986) (85,768) (23,031) (40,923) (42,473)
Income tax expense FEHAY = (4) (15) (22) -
Loss attributable to the KRG HEAEN
owners of the Company B (47986) (85,772) (23,046) (40,945) (42,473)
As at 31 December
R+ZA=+-H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E-1f CZF-QmF <=ZF-=F CZF-ZF ZZ——F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEx THT FER THT FER
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEAE 255,704 254,332 77,849 88,648 117,937
Total liabilities BfEaE (23,404) (1,581) (1,866) (1,727) (3,634)
Total equity BReE 232,300 252,751 75,983 86,921 114,303
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CHINA INTERNET INVESTMENT FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED
PREEHFERESEMEBTIRZE]

(Formerly known as OPES ASIA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED )
(ATEAEREMEEBRAT)

(Continued into Bermuda with limited liability)

(RBEREFEZBRAR)
(Stock Code & 155% : 810)

Unit 18, 9/F, Block B, Focal Industrial Centre,
21 Man Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Tel 5% : (852) 35896710  Fax {EHE : (852) 3102 2970
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